### Wilfrid Laurier University Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2019

## Dispersal as a Buffer Against Zooplankton Community Change in Response to Fluctuating Salinity Levels on the Great Plains

Mercedes Huynh Wilfrid Laurier University, huyn2150@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd



#### **Recommended Citation**

Huynh, Mercedes, "Dispersal as a Buffer Against Zooplankton Community Change in Response to Fluctuating Salinity Levels on the Great Plains" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 2154. https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/2154

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

Dispersal as a Buffer Against Zooplankton Community Change in Response to Fluctuating Salinity Levels on the Great Plains Mercedes Huynh Honours BSc Biology, University of Waterloo, 2017

THESIS

Submitted to the Department of Biology Faculty of Science in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Master of Science in Integrative Biology Wilfrid Laurier University

2019

Mercedes Huynh 2019©

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Derek Gray for his invaluable support and patience. His guidance allowed this research to be my own, steering me in the right direction whenever I needed it. Many thanks go to my committee members, Dr. Jonathon Wilson and Dr. Jim McGeer, who provided useful feedback and suggestions over the course of my research. I am grateful for the hardworking research assistants and volunteers who helped me in the field and laboratory. Thank you to my caring friends, especially the first generation of the Gray laboratory for their good spirits and encouragement. Thank you to Sebastian who supported me emotionally. To my family, thank you for the endless support and for providing me the freedom to pursue my interests.

#### Abstract

The North American Great Plains is home to thousands of closed-basin lakes that are sensitive to changes in hydrology. Climate change models predict increased aridity in this region over the coming century, which is expected to lead to higher salinity levels in many freshwater lakes. Increases in salinity levels may impact zooplankton communities, as laboratory experiments show that many freshwater species have a low tolerance for elevated salinity levels, and field data demonstrate that salinity is the primary factor structuring aquatic communities on the Great Plains. Changes to zooplankton communities could lead to a trophic cascade based on their important position in the lower food web, making it important to understand how they might respond. Zooplankton in lakes undergoing salinization may exhibit shifts in community structure toward salinity-tolerant species and a decrease in richness, diversity, and abundance. As a counter, the dispersal of zooplankton across the landscape from neighbouring water bodies may be able to compensate for the losses of sensitive zooplankton due to local adaptation to elevated salinities as well as taxonomic and functional redundancies in the regional species pool. For this study, I ran a field experiment at Kenosee Lake in southern Saskatchewan where salinities and zooplankton dispersal rates were artificially manipulated over six weeks. We found that increased salinities led to reduced zooplankton abundances and species richness levels, mainly due to a loss of cladocerans. However, enclosures with moderate salinities that received dispersers maintained a community composition similar to undisturbed control communities. The persistence of cladocerans in moderate salinity enclosures receiving dispersal may have been caused by a source-sink effect or the introduction of salinity-tolerant cladocerans. I ran laboratory toxicity assays using Daphnia collected from the plains and found that intraspecific variation in salinity tolerance exists, making the latter explanation plausible. My results indicate that dispersal could play an important role in determining how zooplankton communities respond to increased salinity levels, demonstrating the need to preserve biodiversity in the regional species pool and maintain the vectors and pathways that facilitate the dispersal of zooplankton among lakes on the Great Plains.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	iii
Table of contents	iv
List of figures	vi
List of tables	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1. General overview	
1.2. Research objectives	5
1.3. Zooplankton ecology	5
1.4. Responses to salinity	7
1.4.1. Physiological effects	7
1.4.2. Interspecific variation	
1.4.3. Intraspecific variation	9
1.4.4. Community effects	
1.4.5. Synergistic effects	
1.5. Zooplankton dispersal	
1.6. Spatial insurance hypothesis	
1.7. Measuring change	
1.8. References	
1.9. Figures	
Chapter 2: Experiments	
Can dispersal buffer against salinity-driven zooplankton community ch Plains' lakes?	ange in Great
2.1. Summary	
2.2. Introduction	40
2.3. Materials and methods	
2.3.1. Field study	

	Treatments	
	Sampling and identification	
	Choosing functional traits	
	Statistical analyses	
2.3.2	2. Laboratory experiments	50
2.4. Resu	ılts	51
С	Community changes	51
P	Power analysis	52
E	CC50 values	53
2.5. Disc	ussion	53
2.6. Ackı	nowledgements	58
2.7. Refe	erences	59
2.8. Tabl	es	69
2.9. Figu	res	74
Chapter 3:	Conclusions	
3.1. Sum	imary	
3.2. Cont	tributions to the field	
3.3. How	this research is integrative	
3.4. Rele	evance to other research	86
3.5. Refe	erences	

### List of figures

Cha	pter 1	
	Figure 1.1. Map of the North American Great Plains	35
	Figure 1.2. Map of Kenosee Lake, Saskatchewan	36
	Figure 1.3. Schematic diagram of the spatial insurance hypothesis	37
Chap	pter 2	
	Figure 2.1. Timeline of experimental design and field experiment	74
	Figure 2.2. Comparison of principal component biplots	75
	Figure 2.3. Boxplots of total abundance for cladocerans and copepods	76
	Figure 2.4. Taxonomy-based metrics of the zooplankton communities	77
	Figure 2.5. Functional metrics of the zooplankton communities	78
	Figure 2.6. Results of a power analysis	79
	Figure 2.7. Sets of exposure-response curves	80
	Figure S1. Interaction plots of richness and diversity	81

### List of tables

Chapter 2

Table 2.1 Chemical composition of salt mixture used in experiments	69
Table 2.2. Physical and chemical data for lakes used in the field experiment	70
Table 2.3. ANOVA results using data collected at the end of the field experiment	71
Table 2.4. Functional trait matrix used to calculate functional metrics	72
Table 2.5. Lake data and EC50 values from salinity tolerance experiments	73

# Chapter 1 Introduction

#### **1.1. General overview**

The North American Great Plains cover a vast expanse of land located east of the Rocky Mountains and west of the Mississippi River (Figure 1.1, 1.2). Variability in moisture regimes across space and time along with the topography of the region have produced diverse aquatic ecosystems that exhibit a range of salinities found in few other places on earth (Williams, 1999; Last & Ginn 2005). In the coming decades, salinity levels in these lakes are expected to increase due to increases in temperature and reductions in precipitation that could prolong periods of drought (Dai, 2013; Michels et al., 2007; Sauchyn et al., 2002). Rising salinity levels could significantly affect the biology of these systems, as past studies of salinized freshwaters show salinity-driven changes in the abundance and richness of phytoplankton, zooplankton, macroinvertebrates, and fish (Piscart et al., 2006; Corsi et al., 2010; Wedderburn et al., 2012; Jeppesen et al., 2015).

The impacts of elevated salinity levels in freshwater ecosystems are complex and can impact different taxonomic groups in a myriad of ways. At the most basic level, elevated salinity levels affect life history parameters such as life span, generation time, and reproductive rates for all major trophic levels including primary producers, microinvertebrates, macroinvertebrates, and fish (Bœuf & Payan, 2001; Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007; Munns & Tester, 2008). Macrophytes can face higher osmoregulatory costs and less nutrient availability (e.g.

phosphorus) when waters are stagnant and deprived of freshwater inputs that help mix sediment (Velasco et al., 2006). For green algae, increases in NaCl can induce the withdrawal of water from vacuoles, causing death when vacuoles are exhausted (Hintz et al., 2017). For certain types of zooplankton, increases in NaCl have been reported to significantly lower average life expectancy, total progeny, clutch size and reproductive rates (Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007). Fish have a more complex relationship with salinity, where the most ideal metabolic costs for growth rates are found in intermediate salinities (Bœuf & Payan, 2001). Salinity can also have synergistic effects with, or direct influence on pH, temperature, and dissolved oxygen, which further complicates how salinity will impact aquatic biota (Velasco et al., 2006).

At acute thresholds, the effects of salinity are directly observable over a short period of time through single or ongoing exposures. Often these effects are measured by the lethal concentration required to cause mortality in 50% of the population (LC50). Lethal toxicity tests conducted on riverine species indicate that microinvertebrates were more sensitive (lower LC50s) to NaCl than macroinvertebrates or fish, but that the latter two groups are more susceptible to indirect salinity effects such as changes to prey abundances (Kefford et al., 2007). According to the EPA (1988), *Daphnia pulex* (a common zooplankton microinvertebrate) was the most chloride-sensitive out of the twelve taxonomically diverse genera studied including trout, eel and snails. These findings suggest that microinvertebrates, such as zooplankton, are more sensitive to salinity changes than organisms at higher trophic levels.

Zooplankton are a group of heterotrophic plankton that play an important role in the aquatic food web, providing a key link between primary producers and larger macroinvertebrates and fish. The structure of zooplankton communities in Great Plains' lakes is primarily controlled by salinity (Wissel et al., 2011). Species diversity declines as salinity increases between 3-50 g  $L^{-1}$  until only one or two species are present at the highest salinities. Harpacticoid copepods and *Artemia* tend to dominate high salinity lakes, while low salinity lakes can support species of *Daphnia, Ceriodaphnia*, and calanoid copepods (Wissel et al., 2011). Past studies on aquatic ecosystems in other parts of the world have also found that increases in salinity can sharply reduce taxonomic richness, diversity, abundance, and biomass of zooplankton, and can cause shifts in community composition toward halotolerant species (Schallenberg et al., 2003; Wissel et al., 2011; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Hintz et al., 2017). Although relationships between zooplankton diversity and salinity are clearly established, little research has been conducted to determine survival thresholds for individual species, or to determine how much variability in salinity tolerance might exist within a single species that inhabits lakes spanning a salinity gradient.

An ecological mechanism that could increase the resilience of zooplankton communities to rising salinities is dispersal. The spatial insurance hypothesis suggests that dispersal of individuals among lakes, combined with functional redundancies in a regional species pool, could allow for the replacement of extirpated individuals or species by organisms that fill similar niches (Berg et al., 2010; Loreau et al., 2003). In this case, the dispersal of a salinity-tolerant individuals or species from a nearby lake into a lake experiencing salinity increases could compensate for losses of individuals or species sensitive to increases in salinity (Figure 1.3). The likelihood that spatial insurance would act to counter salinity-driven changes in zooplankton communities requires two assumptions: 1) That dispersal occurs at a temporal and spatial scale significant to compensate for losses; and 2) That variation in salinity tolerance among individuals and species occurs among lakes with varying salinity levels. It is difficult to evaluate

the first assumption without field studies in the region of interest, as published studies on zooplankton dispersal differ wildly in their conclusions about dispersal rates (Audet et al., 2013; Cohen & Shurin, 2003; Havel & Shurin, 2004; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998; Jenkins, 1995; Márquez & Kolasa, 2013; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2008). A few past studies support the second assumption, as there is evidence that zooplankton can evolve to tolerate higher salinity levels (Coldsnow et al., 2017; Latta et al., 2012), and that there are differences in salinity tolerance both within and among species (Kelly et al., 2012; Weider & Hebert, 1987). Published studies provide some support for the spatial insurance hypothesis in the case of rising salinities (Loreau et al., 2003; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013) and for zooplankton communities exposed to several other stressors such as changes to nutrients, connectivity and invasive species (Strecker, 2007; Staddon et al., 2010; Symons & Arnott, 2013).

Climate-driven increases in salinity may have severe consequences for freshwaters in the Great Plains, making it important to examine how these ecosystems will respond. This project incorporates a field mesocosm experiment and laboratory toxicity tests to study the problem. The field portion tested the effects of salinization and the role of dispersal for buffering zooplankton community structure in the face of salinity change. As a supplementary study, intra and interspecific toxicity experiments were conducted to determine if variation in salinity tolerance among individuals and species occurs among lakes with varying salinity levels. Examining the role of dispersal as a mechanism to buffer against salinity-driven change in zooplankton communities could help improve our understanding of metacommunity theory, and more specifically fill in the gaps needed for current management and future predictions of biotic change in this region.

#### **1.2. Research objectives**

Given the importance of salinity for structuring zooplankton communities, it is likely that salinity changes could have significant impacts on zooplankton in Great Plains lakes. However, it is unclear if dispersal of zooplankton among lakes could act to buffer against salinity-driven changes in zooplankton communities. My thesis addressed the following objectives:

- To determine how zooplankton communities will change in response to increased salinity levels in the Northern Great Plains
  - Salinity will influence community structure, decrease taxonomic richness and diversity, and functional richness and diversity.
- To assess whether the spatial insurance hypothesis holds true for zooplankton communities responding to salinity increases
  - Dispersal will act to decrease changes in community structure, taxonomic, and functional measures caused by increased salinity.
- To investigate intraspecific salinity tolerances as a plausible mechanism contributing to spatial insurance effects
  - Members of the same species will have varying salinity tolerances due to local adaptation.

#### **1.3.** Zooplankton ecology

Zooplankton are a group of heterotrophic microscopic organisms with a weak swimming ability. They are ubiquitous, inhabiting most freshwater ecosystems on earth, including wetlands, rivers, ponds, and lakes (Suthers & Rissik, 2009). Some members of the zooplankton spend their entire life cycle living in the water column (holoplankton), while others, such as larval insects, only spend parts of their life under water (Suthers & Rissik, 2009). They are a diverse group that fill a variety of niches, with species exhibiting different habitat preferences (e.g. pelagic versus littoral), food preferences (e.g. herbivores versus predators) and feeding strategies (e.g. filtering versus capturing) (Barnett et al., 2007). Zooplankton are generally responsive to environmental changes, making them a key group to examine when trying to understand the impact of stressors.

Many zooplankton are filter-feeding herbivores, grazing on phytoplankton such as filamentous algae or diatoms (Fryer, 1980). In lake ecosystems, *Daphnia* are often the dominant herbivores while calanoid copepods act as primary grazers in marine habitats (Sommer, 2006). Other zooplankton can be omnivorous or carnivorous, feeding on smaller or sometimes even larger animals than themselves (e.g. chironomid larvae, cladocerans). Freshwater cyclopoids are good examples of opportunistic feeders as their group is comprised of herbivorous, carnivorous and omnivorous species with cannibalistic tendencies at times (Fryer, 1980; Sommer, 2006).

Zooplankton are considered an important component of aquatic food webs, as they play a role in transferring energy from primary producers (algae and phytoplankton) to higher trophic consumers. Planktivores are a highly diverse group describing vertebrates and invertebrates that feed on planktonic organisms, including zooplankton. Fish are facultative planktivores in aquatic ecosystems, relying on visual cues to feed on large *Daphnia* when available but otherwise are dependent on non-planktonic foods (Brooks, 1968). Other planktivorous vertebrates include marine mammals, freshwater amphibian larvae and even some shorebirds common to the North American prairies. Invertebrate planktivores include insects, water mites and numerous crustaceans (e.g. decapods, amphipods, gastropods) (Greene, 1985). Zooplankton represent a shared food resource sustaining a multitude of aquatic organisms from larval to adult stages.

Two abundant and well-studied groups of zooplankton are the cladocerans (Order: Cladocera) and copepods (Subclass: Copepoda). Cladocerans are generally short-lived with short generation times in comparison with copepods. Cladocerans in the genus *Daphnia* been shown to

have an average lifespan of two months, reproducing every 2-3 days depending on temperature and average adult mass (Gillooly, 2000; Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007). In contrast, *Leptodiaptomus sicilis*, a common calanoid copepod, lives 7 to 12 months often with only a single brooding period (Herzig et al., 1980). When conditions are favourable, cladocerans achieve their short generation times by parthenogenesis, allowing for asexual reproduction without male fertilization. In contrast to cladocerans, copepods require both male and female individuals for sexual reproduction, producing eggs that hatch into a larval stage called a nauplius (LeBlanc et al., 1997). If conditions deteriorate, both cladoceran and copepod populations will produce resting eggs that can hatch when favorable conditions return (Ortells et al., 2005; Witty, 2004)

#### **1.4. Responses to salinity**

Salinization could impact zooplankton at a variety of scales from the physiological stress experienced by an individual to the changes in species composition found at the community level. The following section will discuss the potential effects of rising salinity levels at a variety of scales (physiological, intraspecific, interspecific, community) and will then discuss how other abiotic variables may interact with salinity to affect zooplankton.

#### **1.4.1.** Physiological effects

Increases in salinity can lead to physiological complications concerning growth and reproduction caused by osmotic stress (Latta et al., 2012). Osmotic stress occurs when the external environment has a higher concentration of salts than inside the cells, leading to a loss of intracellular water. One major adaptation that has allowed the zooplankton persistence across diverse salinities is osmoregulation, a mechanism carried out by mitochondria-rich cells. In

branchiopods, these ion-transporting cells make up two structures (1) a basal protrusion known as the epipodite and (2) the nuchal gland, a sensory organ adapted to mediate osmotic homeostasis in freshwater zooplankton (Aladin & Potts, 1995). These components mediate salt exchange between the haemolymph and the water, a function similarly performed by fish gills (Potts & Durning, 1980; Aladin & Potts, 1995). It is important to note that osmoregulatory capacities are specific to each species. For example, D. magna and D. pulex are both hyperosmotic regulators at freshwater to 8 g L<sup>-1</sup>, but *D. pulex* becomes isosmotic at higher salinities (Aladin & Potts, 1995). As a result, D. pulex can survive in salinities of up to 20 g L<sup>-1</sup> while D. magna is limited to a strict threshold of 8 g  $L^{-1}$ . Although the mechanisms controlling osmotic balance in zooplankton are not fully understood, laboratory studies and lake surveys suggest that the osmoregulatory abilities of most species is fairly limited (Aladin & Potts 1995; Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo 2007; Liu & Steiner 2017). In addition to problems with osmotic balance, rising salinity levels may also be associated with the formation of harmful precipitates, metal toxicity, and high pH levels, which could all have negative effects on the physiology of zooplankton (Anderson, 1950).

#### 1.4.2. Interspecific variation

In the context of salinization, cladocerans are expected to be especially sensitive compared to other zooplankton. Although some cladocerans can be found in brackish waters, most are solely adapted to lower salinity environments (Arnér & Koivisto, 1993). One study found that the majority of cladocerans surveyed in the northern plains were exclusively present in low salinity lakes (<3 g L<sup>-1</sup>). This suggests that many cladocerans are stenohaline, capable of withstanding only a narrow salinity range (Hammer, 1993). Many copepods can tolerate a wider

range of salinities, and naturally dominate hypersaline lakes due to the absence of their more salinity-sensitive competitors (Wissel et al., 2011; Cooper & Wissel, 2012). These findings suggest that lake salinization in the Great Plains could cause shifts towards halotolerant copepods over cladocerans.

#### 1.4.3. Intraspecific variation

Do all members of a species share the same salinity tolerance? Hutchinson (1967) reported the possibility of intraspecific variation, while speculating on the varied responses to salinity in morphologically similar crustacean populations. Intraspecific differences in salinity tolerance could emerge from the starting point of phenotypic plasticity with subsequent selection pressures resulting in the divergence of populations of the same species through adaptation to local environments (De Jong, 2014). These subpopulations are referred to as ecotypes or clones, describing variants that differ in phenotypes but are still capable of interbreeding (De Jong, 2014; Liu & Steiner, 2017; Carvalho, 1987; Weider & Hebert, 1987).

There has been ample evidence suggesting intraspecific influences on salinity responses in some cladocerans. Weider and Herbert (1987) concluded that *D. pulex* clones from a set of Arctic ponds significantly differed in salinity tolerances by comparing toxicity responses. Similarly, Sinclair and Arnott (2018) found differing salinity responses in two ecotypes of *D. pulex*, possibly due to differences in past salt exposures. Other studies indicated that variants of *D. magna* have salt sensitivities comparable to their natural habitats (Arnér & Koivisto, 1993; Teschner, 1995). For example, brackish clones of *D. magna* can persist in high salinity treatments with greater fitness in saline experimental conditions than freshwater conditions (Teschner, 1995). Additionally, evidence of rapid evolution in zooplankton to salinities suggests

high potential for intraspecific adaptations to local environments (Coldsnow et al., 2017). From the perspective of rising salinities, significant differences in salinity tolerances within species could change our understanding of how zooplankton will persist in the Great Plains based on metacommunity theory.

#### 1.4.4. Community effects

The overall consequences of increased salinities for zooplankton communities can be detected by observing biogeographical patterns or through experimental studies. Biogeographical surveys on aquatic invertebrates have shown substantial reductions in taxonomic richness, Shannon diversity and abundance as salinities exceed 1 g  $L^{-1}$  (Nielsen et al., 2003; Schallenberg et al., 2003; Wissel et al., 2011). Field experiments yield more ambiguous results possibly due to differences in objectives, methodology or starting species compositions. For example, some studies report that salinities at 1 g  $L^{-1}$  significantly decreased species richness (Meter & Swan, 2014; Hintz et al., 2017) whereas one study found that species richness was unaltered by salinities at >2 mg/L (Symons & Arnott, 2013). Some major differences between these studies that make it difficult to compare directly include the salt(s) used (e.g. pure NaCl vs. mixture of chlorides and sulfates) and whether phytoplankton or fish were being investigated in the same enclosures as zooplankton. Sinclair & Arnott (2018) even found conflicting zooplankton responses to salinity increases by 250 mg/L between two lakes, where one community became dominated by littoral species while the other was unaffected, concluding that local context plays a major role in determining salinity tolerance. Overall, these findings suggest that while general trends are clear, responses to salinity may be specific to the zooplankton community under study.

#### **1.4.5. Synergistic effects**

The composition of salts in the water, as opposed to total salinity, may also be an important factor for biota. Depending on the watershed geology and sources of water, the ionic compositions of lake water may vary across a region (Covich et al., 1997). For example, MgSO<sub>4</sub> and NaCl dominated brines are common to lakes of Saskatchewan (H. Haig, University of Regina, personal communication; Last, 1992). The importance of dominant salt types in brines in influencing biological responses is unclear. In some studies, chloride is considered the primary factor influencing salinity tolerances in cladocerans (Aladin & Potts, 1995; Kefford et al., 2004). However, extreme concentrations of other salts can have varying effects. For example, high calcium and magnesium have been associated with increased salinity tolerance in D. magna as water hardness likely improves the imperviousness of cell membranes (Maltby, 2007). If specific salts result in varied stress responses, then past experimental studies that used commercial sea salts to manipulate salinities may have overgeneralized the effects of total salinity (Nielsen et al., 2003; Zalizniak et al., 2006). Other studies suggest the identity of the dominant brine is unimportant. For example, no significant differences were found when Zalizniak et al. (2006) performed acute toxicity studies comparing the stress responses of invertebrates under four different brine types including synthetic ocean mix, sulfate and calcium carbonates, and calcium non-carbonates. In accordance with these results, both Moore (1952) and Wissel et al. (2011) reported that total salinity (all dissolved salts) is the primary factor invertebrate communities in Saskatchewan. These conclusions suggest that investigating the toxicity of salinity could be more important than considering the toxicity of specific ions. The influence specific salts have on zooplankton survivability is evidently complex, but research on the effects of salinity can still be conducted if the artificial salinization method chosen is suitable for the research question.

Other factors that may interact with salinity to influence zooplankton communities include alkalinity and water temperature. Rising salinities in surface waters across North America have been linked with increasing alkalinities, a phenomenon collectively termed "freshwater salinization syndrome" (Kaushal et al., 2018). The joint increase in salinity described at the continental scale by Kaushal et al. (2018) has also been described for the Great Plains (Wissel et al., 2011). Elevated alkalinity in aquatic systems has shown to reduce survivorship in some zooplankton species and increase eutrophication by supplying an excess of inorganic carbon for phytoplankton (O'Brien & deNoyelles, 1972; Boyd et al., 2016). Water temperature may also become a key variable that interacts with salinity to influence zooplankton. Previous studies have found that salinity decreases metabolic rates and reproduction in *Daphnia*, while temperature independently increases the values of these parameters (Heugens et al., 2006; Chen & Stillman, 2012). When combined, increased temperatures reduces salinity tolerance, affecting growth and mortality rates in Daphnia carinata (Hall & Burns, 2002). However, contrasting results were reported by Chen & Stillman (2012) who concluded that temperature stress led to increased tolerances to salinity for *Daphnia pulex*. The latter is a more common finding across a range of aquatic organisms called "cross-tolerance" and can be understood as the priming of a protective response to handle a subsequent stressor (Gunderson et al., 2015). Together, these findings suggest that the timing of increased temperatures and salinities could have an influence on how organisms persist in the Great Plains.

#### 1.5. Zooplankton dispersal

Biological dispersal is the movement of individuals or living propagules to a new habitat or population (Allen, 2007). Dispersal can occur during juvenile or adult stages either actively or

passively. Active dispersal is movement within the physical capacity of an individual. For instance, birds and insects are effective dispersers due to their flight. Passive dispersal is movement influenced by external force, applicable to sessile plants or animals with limited mobility (Croteau, 2010). After dispersing, the propagule must successfully colonize, as measured by reproduction and persistence in the new habitat. Dispersal can have implications not only for individual fitness, but over time can lead to changes in the gene pool and species distributions.

Aquatic invertebrates have developed a variety of interesting physical structures and behavioural strategies to allow for overland transport to neighboring water bodies (Bassett, 1963). Many cladocerans produce diapausing eggs resistant to desiccation, extreme temperatures and ingestion by predators, which can allow for dispersal across the inhospitable terrestrial landscape. In *Daphnia*, these resting eggs can develop hook-like structures to increase the likelihood of latching onto animal vectors (Havel & Shurin, 2004). Other strategies aimed at improving dispersal rates include the production of floating eggs and the deposition of eggs in shallow waters where water birds and mammals are more likely to pick them up (Allen, 2007).

Some of the most common vectors that move zooplankton among lakes include wind, rain and stream connections (Bilton et al., 2001; Cáceres & Soluk, 2002; Cohen & Shurin, 2003). Winds have been shown to move adult zooplankton or diapausing eggs over short distances (Cáceres & Soluk, 2002; Cohen & Shurin, 2003). Rain as a vector describes storms or flooding events that could connect lakes with adjacent water bodies, thereby providing a vector for movement (e.g. river networks; (Havel & Shurin, 2004). Transport by animal vectors (phoresy) occurs when adult zooplankton attach externally or when eggs survive in the guts and feces of birds, insects, amphibians and mammals (Bilton *et al.*, 2001; Cáceres & Soluk, 2002). Human

activities also play a role in dispersal, potentially moving individuals long distances when recreational boats unload waters containing exotic zooplankton into a new habitat (Havel & Shurin, 2004).

The role of zooplankton dispersal in structuring local communities is poorly understood. Some studies have asserted high dispersal rates after observing rapid colonization of newly constructed habitats (Audet et al., 2013; Cohen & Shurin, 2003; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2008). However, similar studies conducted in other regions have demonstrated relatively low dispersal rates (Jenkins & Buikema, 1998; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998; Allen, 2007). In assessing the genetic structure of zooplankton communities across space, many species have been found to be isolated over relatively short distances, an occurrence likely driven by priority effects or dispersal limitation (Cáceres & Soluk, 2002; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998). Limited dispersal is further evidenced by biogeographical studies that show little change in the distributions of some species since the last ice age (Stemberger, 1995).

Why do studies reach contrasting conclusions about the frequency and extent of zooplankton dispersal in the natural environment? Conflicting results could be caused by region-specific factors that influence dispersal, such as the distance from source pond, dispersal vector type, terrain type, species-specific vagility, and the age of water bodies (Jenkins, 1995; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998; Cohen & Shurin, 2003). For example, Cáceres and Soluk (2002) found that wind and rain were primary dispersal vectors while a recent study with similar treatments concluded that large animals were most important (Allen, 2007). Other explanations include differences in experimental setups that could have resulted in differences in attractiveness of the dispersal traps for animals, or differences in terrestrial faunas in regions where the experiments were carried out, leading to differences in the types of animals available to move zooplankton

and their resting stages (Allen, 2007).

#### 1.6. Spatial insurance hypothesis

The spatial insurance hypothesis has been tested in a number of studies with varying conclusions (Loreau et al., 2003; France & Duffy, 2006; Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013). Loreau (2003) used a theoretical model to find that intermediate dispersal rates are necessary for spatial insurance to maximize species diversity and stabilize ecosystem functioning; a result later supported by an experimental study (Howeth & Leibold, 2010). In contrast, Thompson and Shurin (2012) concluded that spatial insurance due to metacommunity dynamics can only resists ecological changes caused by specific stressors. They found negligible insurance effects for zooplankton under salinity stress, but this may have been due to the community composition in their region of study or stress experienced during collection which limited the success of immigrants to salt-stressed communities (Thompson & Shurin, 2012).

The ability of dispersal to buffer against salinity-driven changes in zooplankton community structure in Great Plains' lakes relies on two untested assumptions: 1) That variation in salinity tolerance exists in zooplankton distributed across a landscape of lakes with varying salinities; and 2) That dispersal rates are high enough to increase genetic variation in recipient communities or to replace the loss of salinity intolerant individuals. Past studies show that the dispersal of individuals facilitates gene flow among lakes, diversifying gene pools and the genetic composition of the population (Berg et al., 2010). This process catalyzes adaptation to environmental stress, assuming a fraction of the zooplankton immigrants survive to produce offspring in their new habitat (Symons & Arnott, 2013). If salinity-tolerance is a genetically-

determined trait that varies among populations, the same reasoning should apply for zooplankton populations facing salinity stress.

Recent work by Coldsnow et al. (2017) shows that salinity tolerance in Daphnia can evolve over many generations, supporting the idea that there is some degree of genetic control over osmoregulation. In addition, a study by Weider & Hebert (1987) demonstrated differences in salinity tolerance among D. pulex clones collected from water bodies of varying salinities. Clones collected from lakes with higher salinities were more resistant to elevated salinity levels in acute toxicity experiments (Weider & Hebert 1987). The same resistance can be found in D. *magna* of the Baltic Sea, adapted to surviving saline waters of 12.5 g  $L^{-1}$  compared to a freshwater clone that can tolerate salinities only below 4 g L<sup>-1</sup> (Arncr & Koivisto, 1993; Schuytema et al., 1997). This broad range in salinity tolerance can be explained by the presence of interspecific differences among clones caused by environmental and genetic variance. In addition to the replacement by similar species, intraspecific differences provide another means of replacement in communities that undergo functional losses caused by salinity stress. For example, zooplankton communities can be further stabilized if a salinity-tolerant Daphnia disperses and replaces the loss of a more sensitive clone. The significance of clonal variation in salinity tolerances has yet to be studied for the Great Plains but could have implications for spatial insurance.

The second assumption stated above, regarding the rate of dispersal of zooplankton across the landscape, is more difficult to evaluate. As discussed previously, there is disagreement in the literature on the effective rates of zooplankton dispersal in natural habitats. The highest rates of dispersal among lakes have been found in interconnected bodies of water (Michels et al., 2001). Given that many lakes on the Great Plains are endorheic and lack stream connections,

they will be limited to lower rates of dispersal by means of wind, rain and waterfowl (Jenkins & Underwood 1998). In theory, if dispersal rates are high enough, the simple arrival of individuals, independent of their genetic contribution could forestall local extinction events (Gotelli 1991; Howeth & Leibold, 2010). From a metacommunity standpoint, a lake of increasing salinity might become a sink habitat for salinity-intolerant species. These salinity intolerant species would then solely persist by immigration from surrounding source habitats (i.e. the rescue effect (Brown & Kodric-Brown, 1977).

#### **1.7. Measuring change**

Three metrics often used in ecology to describe the structure of communities are species richness, species evenness and species diversity (Stirling & Wilsey, 2001). Although simple, these metrics are assumed to convey important information about communities, as numerous laboratory and field studies have suggested that changes in biodiversity that are reflected by these metrics can have implications for ecosystem structure and functioning (Gotelli & Colwell, 2001, 2011; Hooper *et al.*, 2006). A decrease in species richness can destabilize local ecosystem services whereas reductions in diversity have been linked to ecosystem stability, primary productivity and the strength of species interactions (Cardinale et al., 2012; Heip & Engels, 1974.; Kremen, 2005).

The simplest index of community structure is species richness (S), defined as the number of species present. Despite its intuitive nature and definition, the actual estimation of how many species are present in a local community is a difficult process. Realistically, species richness can only be calculated according to the observed number of species in sample and so the estimate will always be inaccurate due to undersampling (e.g. more species are found with a larger

number of samples). A popular method used to correct for this bias when comparing richness values among sites is to use rarefaction to correct for sample size. Rarefaction computes random species assemblages with data drawn from actual community data, constructing a curve that plateaus as sample sizes increase (Gotelli & Colwell, 2011).

The Shannon diversity index (H') is measured based on the relative abundances of species (evenness) and the number of species in a given location. An important application of calculated diversity is to study environmental impacts. Standard measures of diversity are used in field studies to compare communities before and after exposure to a stressor or between different habitats (Heip & Engels, 1974). The index is calculated as shown below, described as the sum of the proportion of species richness comprised of *i*th species ( $p_i$ ) multiplied by the natural logarithm of that same value, multiplied by 1 (Shannon, 1948).

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{S} p_i \ln p_i$$
 [1]

Evenness describes whether species are found in relatively equal abundances or if the community is dominated by one or a few species, with values ranging from 0 (lack of evenness) to 1 (complete evenness). When coupled with diversity, evenness is a measure often used to compare sets of communities to show abundance disparities. Pielou's evenness (J') is the most common index in ecology of this nature and can be calculated using Shannon diversity (H') and species richness (S) as follows (Alatalo, 2016):

$$E_H = \frac{H}{H_{max}} = \frac{H}{\ln s}$$
[2]

Recently, the usage of these biodiversity measures to study environmental impacts has been criticized because they fail to consider the characteristics of the species found in communities. As a result, studies of zooplankton communities have shifted away from pure taxonomic approaches to understanding community structure towards classifications that depend on the ecological roles played by a species (Barnett et al. 2007). These roles define variation in species' morphology, physiology and phenology as well as describing interactions with other species and with resources (Petchey et al., 2009). This approach allows for more flexible perspectives since niches can be shared between related species and then linked to ecosystem functioning and processes (Pomerleau et al., 2014). For example, zooplankton can be classified by feeding type to evaluate the relative abundance of filter-feeders, stationary suspension feeders, and raptorial feeders. Other traits of interest for zooplankton may include trophic group (i.e. herbivore), predator avoidance behaviour, and average adult body length (Barnett et al. 2007).

The leading framework in calculating functional diversity uses an assemblage of species traits, chosen by the context of the research (e.g. the predicted impacts of salinity on zooplankton ecology), to calculate three functional metrics. The first metric is functional evenness (FEve), described as the spacing between species (Villéger et al., 2008). For example, the clumping of species in trait space will produce a value closer to 0 (uneven) than 1 (even). The second metric, functional richness (FRic), is defined as the convex hull volume between species in the plot (the minimum volume required to contain all points). Communities with low functional evenness or richness are more vulnerable to threats (e.g. invasions, productivity) due to the inefficient usage of resources. The third metric is Rao's quadratic entropy (FD<sub>Q</sub>), a functional diversity measure based on the dissimilarity between functional traits and their abundances (Botta-Dukát, 2005; Obertegger & Flaim, 2015; Ricotta et al., 2014). In mathematical terms, this index calculates a single value by the sum of pair-wise functional distances weighed by their relative abundances (Pomerleau et al., 2014) for a community assemblage. The equation involves S as species and  $d_{ij}$ 

as the dissimilarity between the *i*-th and the *j*-ith. For example, the value of  $d_{ii}$  is equal to 0 (Botta-Dukát, 2005).

$$FD_Q = \sum_{i=1}^{S-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{S} d_{ij} p_i p_i$$
[3]

All functional measures discussed are sensitive to missing trait values (Lefcheck et al., 2015).

Multivariate ordination techniques such as principal component analysis are another approach to describing change in the structure of communities (Abdi & Williams 2010). Ordination techniques simplify (reduce dimensionality) large datasets by converting correlated values to a set of linear uncorrelated values that can be plotted in a two- or three-dimensional ordination diagram (biplot). A two-dimensional biplot of the first two principal components will then display the data in an orientation that conveys information about the differences in community structure among sites (Abdi & Williams 2010). Points located closer together on the plot represent sites that share similar communities, while those further apart have a different community structure. Multivariate analyses such as PCA are sensitive tools for revealing changes in community structure that otherwise could not be identified using univariate statistics.

Understanding how freshwater zooplankton will respond to salinization involves measuring change in a multitude of ways. This project aims to examine changes to community structure and diversity and to test if dispersal can buffer against those changes. The following chapter will describe the experiments I conducted to assess the effects of rising salinities in the Great Plains on zooplankton communities with a focus on dispersal as a moderating force.

#### 1.8. References

- Abdi H. & Williams L.J. (2010). Principal components analysis. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics 2, 433–459. https://doi.org/10.1002/wics.101
- Aladin N.V. & Potts W.T.W. (1995). Osmoregulatory capacity of the Cladocera. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* **164**, 671–683. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00389810
- Alatalo R.V (2016). Problems in the measurement of evenness in ecology. **37**, 199–204. https://doi.org/10.2307/3544465
- Allen M.R. (2007). Measuring and modeling dispersal of adult zooplankton. *Oecologia* **153**, 135–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0704-4
- Anderson B.G. (1950). The apparent thresholds of toxicity to *Daphnia magna* for chlorides of various metals when added to Lake Erie water. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 78, 96–113. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1577/1548-8659(1948)78%5B96%3ATATOTT%5D2.0.CO%3B2
- Arnér M. & Koivisto S. (1993). Effects of salinity on metabolism and life history characteristics of *Daphnia magna*. *Hydrobiologia* **259**, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00008373
- Audet C., MacPhee S. & Keller W. (2013). Colonization of constructed ponds by crustacean zooplankton: local and regional influences. *Journal of Limnology* 72, 524–530. https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2013.e43
- Barnett A.J., Finlay K. & Beisner B.E. (2007). Functional diversity of crustacean zooplankton communities: Towards a trait-based classification. *Freshwater Biology* 52, 796–813. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01733.x

Bassett M.J. (1963). The passive dispersal of small aquatic organisms and their colonization of isolated bodies of water. *Ecological Monographs* 33, 161–185. https://doi.org/10.2307/1948560

- Berg M.P., Kiers E.T., Driessen G., van der Heijden M., Kooi B.W., Kuenen F., *et al.* (2010).
  Adapt or disperse: understanding species persistence in a changing world. *Global Change Biology* 16, 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02014.x
- Bilton D.T., Freeland J.R. & Okamura B. (2001). Dispersal in freshwater invertebrates. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 32, 159–181. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114016
- Bœuf G. & Payan P. (2001). How should salinity influence fish growth? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part C Toxicology and Pharmacology* 130, 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1532-0456(01)00268-X
- Botta-Dukát Z. (2005). Rao's quadratic entropy as a measure of functional diversity based on multiple traits. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **16**, 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02393.x
- Boyd C.E., Tucker C.S. & Somridhivej B. (2016). Alkalinity and hardness: Critical but elusive concepts in aquaculture. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society* **47**, 6–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12241
- Brooks J.L. (1968). The effects of prey size selection by lake planktivores. *Systematic Biology* **17**, 273–291. https://doi.org/10.1093/sysbio/17.3.273

Brown J.H. & Kodric-Brown A. (1977). Turnover rates in insular biogeography: Effect of

immigration on extinction. *Ecology* **58**, 445–449. https://doi.org/10.2307/1935620

- Cáceres C. & Soluk D. (2002). Blowing in the wind: a field test of overland dispersal and colonization by aquatic invertebrates. *Oecologia* 131, 402–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-002-0897-5
- Cardinale B.J., Duffy J.E., Gonzalez A., Hooper D.U., Perrings C., Venail P., *et al.* (2012).
  Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature* 486, 59–67.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Carvalho G.R. (1987). The clonal ecology of *Daphnia magna* (Crustacea: Cladocera): II. thermal differentiation among seasonal clones. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 56, 469–478. https://doi.org/10.2307/5060
- Chen X. & Stillman J.H. (2012). Multigenerational analysis of temperature and salinity variability affects on metabolic rate, generation time, and acute thermal and salinity tolerance in *Daphnia pulex*. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **37**, 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2011.12.010
- Cohen G.M. & Shurin J.B. (2003). Scale-dependence and mechanisms of dispersal in freshwater zooplankton. *Oikos* **103**, 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12660.x
- Coldsnow K.D., Mattes B.M., Hintz W.D. & Relyea R.A. (2017). Rapid evolution of tolerance to road salt in zooplankton. *Environmental Pollution* 222, 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.12.024
- Cooper R.N. & Wissel B. (2012). Interactive effects of chemical and biological controls on foodweb composition in saline prairie lakes. *Aquatic Biosystems* **8**, 29.

https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-9063-8-29

- Corsi S.R., Graczyk D.J., Geis S.W., Booth N.L. & Richards K.D. (2010). A fresh look at road salt: Aquatic toxicity and water-quality impacts on local, regional, and national scales. *Environmental Science and Technology* 44, 7376–7382. https://doi.org/10.1021/es101333u
- Covich A.P., Fritz S.C., Lamb P.J., Marzolf R.D., Matthews W.J., Poiani K.A., *et al.* (1997). Potential effects of climate change on aquatic ecosystems of the Great Plains of North America. *Hydrological Processes* **11**, 993–1021. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19970630)11:8<993::AID-HYP515>3.0.CO;2-N
- Croteau, E. K. (2010) Causes and Consequences of Dispersal in Plants and Animals. *Nature Education Knowledge* **3**, 12.
- Dai A. (2012). Increasing drought under global warming in observations and models. *Nature Climate Change* **3**, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1633

EPA (1988). Ambient aquatic life water criteria for chloride. Washington, D.C.

- France K.E. & Duffy J.E. (2006). Diversity and dispersal interactively affect predictability of ecosystem function. *Nature* 441, 1139–1143. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04729
- Fryer G. (1980). The feeding mechanism of some freshwater cyclopoids. *Freshwater Biology* **11**, 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12555
- Gillooly J.F. (2000). Effect of body size and temperature on generation time in zooplankton. *Journal of Plankton Research* 22, 241–251. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/22.2.241
- Gonzalez A. & Loreau M. (2009). The causes and consequences of compensatory dynamics in ecological communities. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **40**, 393–

414. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173349

- Gotelli N.J. (1991). Metapopulation models: The rescue effect, the propagule rain, and the coresatellite hypothesis. *The American Naturalist* **138**, 768–776. https://doi.org/10.1086/285249
- Gotelli N.J. & Colwell R.K. (2011). *Estimating Species Richness*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Gotelli N.J. & Colwell R.K. (2001). Quantifying biodiversity: Procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. *Ecology Letters* 4, 379–391. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2001.00230.x
- Greene C.H. (1985). Planktivore functional groups and patterns of prey selection in pelagic communities. *Journal of Plankton Research* **7**, 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/7.1.35
- Gunderson A.R., Armstrong E.J. & Stillman J.H. (2015). Multiple stressors in a changing world: The need for an improved perspective on physiological responses to the dynamic marine environment. *Annual Review of Marine Science* 8, 357–378. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-122414-033953
- Hall C.J. & Burns C.W. (2002). Mortality and growth responses of *Daphnia carinata* to increases in temperature and salinity. *Freshwater Biology* 47, 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2002.00815.x
- Hammer U.T. (1993). Zooplankton distribution and abundance in saline lakes of Alberta and Saskatchewan, Canada. *International Journal of Salt Lake Research* **2**, 111–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02905904

Havel J.E. & Shurin J.B. (2004). Mechanisms, effects, and scales of dispersal in freshwater

zooplankton. *Limnology and Oceanography* **49**, 1229–1238. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2004.49.4\_part\_2.1229

- Heip C. & Engels P. (1974). Comparing species diversity and evenness indices. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 54, 559–563. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400022748
- Herzig A., Anderson R.S. & Mayhood D.W. (1980). Production and population dynamics of *Leptodiaptomus sicilis* in a mountain lake in Alberta, Canada. *Nordic Society Oikos* 3, 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1980.tb00708.x
- Heugens E.H.W., Tokkie L.T.B., Kraak M.H.S., Hendriks A.J., van Straalen N.M. & Admiraal W. (2006). Population growth of *Daphnia magna* under multiple stress conditions: Joint effects of temperature, food, and cadmium. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25, 1399–1407. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-294r.1
- Hintz W.D., Mattes B.M., Schuler M.S., Jones D.K., Stoler A.B., Lind L., *et al.* (2017).
  Salinization triggers a trophic cascade in experimental freshwater communities with varying food-chain length. *Ecological Applications* 27, 833–844. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1487
- Hooper D.U., Solan M., Symstad A., Diaz S., Gessner M.O., Buchmann N., et al. (2006).
  Species diversity, functional diversity and ecosystem functioning. Oxford University Press,
  Oxford, UK.
- Howeth J.G. & Leibold M.A. (2010). Species dispersal rates alter diversity and ecosystem stability in pond metacommunities. *Ecology* **91**, 2727–2741. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1004.1

Hutchinson, G. E. 1967. A treatise on limnology. Wiley, New York, USA.

- Jenkins D.G. (1995). Dispersal-limited zooplankton distribution and community composition in new ponds. *Hydrobiologia* **313/314**, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00025926
- Jenkins D.G. & Buikema A.L. (1998). Do similar communities develop in similar sites? A test with zooplankton structure and function. *Ecological Monographs* 68, 421–443. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(1998)068[0421:DSCDIS]2.0.CO;2
- Jenkins D.G. & Underwood M.O. (1998). Zooplankton may not disperse readily in wind, rain or waterfowl. *Hydrobiologia* **388**, 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- Jeppesen E., Brucet S., Naselli-Flores L., Papastergiadou E., Stefanidis K., Nõges T., *et al.* (2015). Ecological impacts of global warming and water abstraction on lakes and reservoirs due to changes in water level and related changes in salinity. *Hydrobiologia* **750**, 201–227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-014-2169
- De Jong G. (2014). Evolution of plasticity and the emergence patterns of ecotypes. *New Phytologist* **166**, 101–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01322.x
- Kaushal S.S., Likens G.E., Pace M.L., Utz R.M., Haq S., Gorman J., et al. (2018). Freshwater salinization syndrome on a continental scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, E574–E583. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711234115
- Kefford B.J., Fields E.J., Clay C. & Nugegoda D. (2007). The salinity tolerance of riverine microinvertebrates from the southern Murray Darling Basin. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 58, 1019–1031. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF06046

Kelly M.W., Sanford E. & Grosberg R.K. (2012). Limited potential for adaptation to climate

change in a broadly distributed marine crustacean. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **279**, 349–356. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.0542

Kremen C. (2005). Managing ecosystem services: What do we need to know about their ecology? *Ecology Letters* **8**, 468–479. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00751.x

Last W.M. (1992). Chemical composition of saline and subsaline lakes of the northern Great Plains, western Canada. *International Journal of Salt Lake Research* **1**, 47–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02904362

- Last W.M. & Ginn F.M. (2005). Saline systems of the Great Plains of western Canada: an overview of the limnogeology and paleolimnology. *Saline systems* 1, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1448-1-10
- Latta L.C., Weider L.J., Colbourne J.K. & Pfrender M.E. (2012). The evolution of salinity tolerance in *Daphnia*: A functional genomics approach. *Ecology Letters* **15**, 794–802. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01799.x
- LeBlanc J.S., Taylor W.D. & Johannsson O.E. (1997). The feeding ecology of the cyclopoid copepod *Diacyclops thomasi* in Lake Ontario. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 23, 369– 381. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0380-1330(97)70919-5
- Lefcheck J.S., Bastazini V.A.G. & Griffin J.N. (2015). Choosing and using multiple traits in functional diversity research. *Environmental Conservation* 42, 104–107. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892914000307
- Liu X. & Steiner C.F. (2017). Ecotoxicology of salinity tolerance in *Daphnia pulex*: Interactive effects of clonal variation, salinity stress and predation. *Journal of Plankton Research* **39**,
687-697. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbx027

- Loreau M., Mouquet N. & Gonzalez A. (2003). Biodiversity as spatial insurance in heterogeneous landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 12765– 12770. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2235465100
- Maltby L. (2007). Small-scale freshwater toxicity investigations: Toxicity test methods. *Freshwater Biology* **52**, 198–198. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01662.x
- Márquez J.C. & Kolasa J. (2013). Local and regional processes in community assembly. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e54580. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054580
- Martínez-Jerónimo F. & Martínez-Jerónimo L. (2007). Chronic effect of NaCl salinity on a freshwater strain of *Daphnia magna* Straus (Crustacea: Cladocera): A demographic study. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 67, 411–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.08.009
- Meter R.J.V. & Swan C.M. (2014). Road salts as environmental constraints in urban pond food webs. *PLoS ONE* **9**. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090168
- Michels A., Laird K.R., Wilson S.E., Thomson D., Leavitt P.R., Oglesby R.J., *et al.* (2007).
  Multidecadal to millennial-scale shifts in drought conditions on the Canadian prairies over the past six millennia: Implications for future drought assessment. *Global Change Biology* 13, 1295–1307. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01367.x
- Michels E., Cottenie K., Neys L. & De Meester L. (2001). Zooplankton on the move: First results on the quantification of dispersal of zooplankton in a set of interconnected ponds. *Hydrobiologia* 442, 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017549416362

- Moore J.E. (1952). The Entomostraca of Southern Saskatchewan. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **30**, 410–451. https://doi.org/10.1139/z52-036
- Munns R. & Tester M. (2008). Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Annual Review of Plant Biology 59, 651–681. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.59.032607.092911
- Nielsen D.L., Brock M.A., Rees G.N. & Baldwin D.S. (2003). Effects of increasing salinity on freshwater ecosystems in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* 51, 655–665. https://doi.org/10.1071/BT02115
- O'Brien W.J. & deNoyelles J. F. (1972). Photosynthetically elevated pH as a factor in zooplankton mortality in nutrient enriched ponds. *Ecology* 53, 605–614. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934774
- Obertegger U. & Flaim G. (2015). Community assembly of rotifers based on morphological traits. *Hydrobiologia* **753**, 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-015-2191-7
- Ortells R., Reusch T.B.H. & Lampert W. (2005). Salinity tolerance in *Daphnia magna*: Characteristics of genotypes hatching from mixed sediments. *Oecologia* 143, 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0027-2
- Petchey O.L., O'Gorman E.J. & Flynn D.F.B. (2009). *A functional guide to functional diversity measures*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Piscart C., Moreteau J.C. & Beisel J.N. (2006). Monitoring changes in freshwater macroinvertebrate communities along a salinity gradient using artificial substrates. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 116, 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-006-7669-3

- Pomerleau C., Sastri A.R. & Beisner B.E. (2014). Evaluation of functional trait diversity for marine zooplankton communities in the Northeast subarctic Pacific Ocean. *Journal of Plankton Research* 37, 712–726. https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbv045
- Potts W.T.W. & Durning C.T. (1980). Physiological evolution in the branchiopods. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* **67**, 475–484. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(80)90335-1
- Ricotta C., Bacaro G. & Moretti M. (2014). A new measure of functional evenness and some of its properties. *PLoS ONE* 9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0104060
- Sauchyn D.J., Barrow E.M., Hopkinson R.F. & Leavitt P.R. (2002). Aridity on the Canadian plains. *Géographie physique et Quaternaire* **56**, 247. https://doi.org/10.7202/009109ar
- Schallenberg M., Hall C.J. & Burns C.W. (2003). Consequences of climate-induced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 251, 181–189. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps251181
- Schuytema G.S., Nebeker A. V & Stutzman T.W. (1997). Salinity tolerance of *Daphnia magna* and potential use for estuarine sediment toxicity tests. *Archives of Envrionmental Contamination and Toxicology* **33**, 194–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002449900242
- Shannon, C. E. (1948). A mathematical theory of communication. *Bell Systems Technical Journal*, **27**, 379–423. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb01338
- Sommer U. (2006). Cladocerans versus copepods : the cause of contrasting top down controls on freshwater and marine phytoplankton. *Oecologia* 147, 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0320-0

Staddon P., Lindo Z., Crittenden P.D., Gilbert F. & Gonzalez A. (2010). Connectivity, non-

random extinction and ecosystem function in experimental metacommunities. *Ecology Letters* **13**, 543–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01450.x

- Stemberger R.S. (1995). Pleistocene refuge areas and postglacial dispersal of copepods of the northeastern United States. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 52, 2197– 2210. https://doi.org/10.1139/f95-812
- Stirling G. & Wilsey B. (2001). Empirical relationships between species richness, evenness, and proportional diversity. *The American Naturalist* **158**, 286–299. https://doi.org/10.1086/321317
- Strecker A.L. (2007). *Responses of zooplankton community structure and ecosystem function to the invasion of an invertebrate predator, Bythotrephes longimanus.* Queen's University.
- Suthers I.M. & Rissik D. (2009). *Plankton: A guide to their ecology and monitoring for water quality*. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, AU.
- Symons C.C. & Arnott S.E. (2013). Regional zooplankton dispersal provides spatial insurance for ecosystem function. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 1610–1619. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12122
- Teschner M. (1995). Effects of salinity on the life history and fitness of *Daphnia magna*: variability within and between populations. *Hydrobiologia* **307**, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031995
- Thompson P.L. & Shurin J.B. (2012). Regional zooplankton biodiversity provides limited buffering of pond ecosystems against climate change. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 251– 259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01908.x

- Vanschoenwinkel B., Gielen S., Vandewaerde H., Seaman M. & Brendonck L. (2008a). Relative importance of different dispersal vectors for small aquatic invertebrates in a rock pool metacommunity. *Ecography* **31**, 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.05442.x
- Vanschoenwinkel B., Waterkeyn A., Vandecaetsbeek T., Pineau O., Grillas P. & Brendonck L. (2008b). Dispersal of freshwater invertebrates by large terrestrial mammals: a case study with wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) in Mediterranean wetlands. *Freshwater Biology* 53, 2264–2273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02071.x
- Velasco J., Millán A., Hernández J., Gutiérrez C., Abellán P., Sánchez D., *et al.* (2006).
  Response of biotic communities to salinity changes in a Mediterranean hypersaline stream. *Saline systems* 2, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1448-2-12
- Villéger S., Mason N.W.H. & Mouillot D. (2008). New multidimensional functional diversity indices for a multifaceted framework in functional ecology. *Ecology* 89, 2290–2301. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1206.1
- Wedderburn S.D., Hammer M.P. & Bice C.M. (2012). Shifts in small-bodied fish assemblages resulting from drought-induced water level recession in terminating lakes of the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. *Hydrobiologia* 691, 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-011-0993-9
- Weider L.J. & Hebert P.D.N. (1987). Ecological and physiological differentiation among low-Arctic clones of *Daphnia pulex*. *Ecology* **68**, 188–198. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938819
- Williams W.D. (1999). Salinisation: A major threat to water resources in the arid and semi-arid regions of the world. *Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management* 4, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1770.1999.00089.x

- Wissel B., Cooper R.N., Leavitt P.R. & Pham S. V. (2011). Hierarchical regulation of pelagic invertebrates in lakes of the northern Great Plains: A novel model for interdecadal effects of future climate change on lakes. *Global Change Biology* 17, 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02291.x
- Witty L.M. (2004). *Practical Guide to Identifying Freshwater Crustacean Zooplankton*. Cooperative Freshwater Ecology, Sudbury, Ontario.
- Zalizniak L., Kefford B.J. & Nugegoda D. (2006). Is all salinity the same? I. The effect of ionic compositions on the salinity tolerance of five species of freshwater invertebrates. *Marine* and Freshwater Research 57, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF05103

# 1.9. Figures

**Figure 1.1.** Map of the North American Great Plains (shaded area) in the United States and Canadian prairies. Bolded states contain watersheds in the American Great Plains that are undergoing significant increases in salinity and alkalinity as reported by Kaushal et al. (2018). The star indicates my main study site (Kenosee Lake) situated in Moose Mountain Provincial Park, Saskatchewan (to be discussed in the Chapter 2).



**Figure 1.2.** Map of Kenosee Lake located in southern Saskatchewan, Canada. The red dot indicates the area of Saskatchewan where Kenosee Lake is found while the blue dot indicates the area where experimental enclosures were set up.



**Figure 1.3.** Schematic diagram of how spatial insurance could buffer against zooplankton community change in the face of increasing salinities (salinity increases from left to right). Blue shapes indicate lakes and numbers inside indicate species richness. In the absence of dispersal, species are lost without compensation. When dispersal is present, lost individuals or species can be replaced by salinity-tolerant individuals from adjacent lakes.



# Chapter 2 Experiments

Can dispersal buffer against salinity-driven zooplankton community change in Great

Plains' lakes?

Mercedes Huynh and Derek K. Gray\*

Department of Biology, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.

**Corresponding author:** 

Derek Gray

Department of Biology

Wilfrid Laurier University

Waterloo, Ontario N2L 3C5

email: dgray@wlu.ca

This chapter is in manuscript form and has been submitted to Freshwater Biology.

## 2.1. Summary

- The North American Great Plains contains thousands of lakes that vary in salinity from freshwater to hypersaline. Paleolimnological studies show that salinity levels in these lakes are tightly linked with climate, and current projections point to a more arid future in the region due to anthropogenic climate change.
- 2. Many zooplankton species are sensitive to changes in salinity, and their position near the base of the aquatic food web makes it important to understand how they might respond to increasing salinity levels. Zooplankton communities in lakes with rising salinity levels may exhibit changes in structure, including a shift toward more salinity-tolerant species and a reduction in abundance, species richness, and diversity. However, it is possible that dispersal of zooplankton among lakes, coupled with local adaptation to salinity levels and taxonomic and functional redundancies in the regional species pool, could compensate for losses of sensitive zooplankton in lakes undergoing salinization.
- 3. To test this hypothesis, a field enclosure experiment was conducted at a freshwater lake in southern Saskatchewan where salinity levels and zooplankton dispersal were artificially manipulated. We found that increasing salinity levels in our enclosures above that in our study lake resulted in lower zooplankton abundances and species richness levels, primarily due to the loss of cladoceran species. However, if enclosures with moderate salinity levels (2.5, 5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>) received immigration from nearby lakes, they sustained zooplankton communities with a balanced mix of cladocerans and copepods.
- 4. Our results provide some evidence that the dispersal of individuals among lakes could reduce salinity-induced changes in zooplankton communities. The maintenance of cladocerans in treatments that received immigrants may have been driven by either a

rescue effect or the introduction of salinity-tolerant cladocerans from surrounding lakes. We ran laboratory toxicity assays using *Daphnia* collected from lakes within the region and found that intraspecific variation in salinity tolerance does exist, providing evidence that the latter explanation may be plausible.

5. Given the importance of dispersal for zooplankton communities responding to elevated salinity levels, it will be important to preserve regional biodiversity and the mechanisms and pathways that allow for dispersal of individuals among lakes and ponds on the Great Plains.

## 2.2. Introduction

The salinity of surface waters is increasing throughout North America (Dugan et al. 2017). These increases have been caused by a combination of road salt and agricultural runoff, changes in the amount of impervious land cover, and climate-driven changes in precipitation and evaporation rates (Covich et al., 1997; Dugan et al., 2017; Kaushal et al., 2018; Schallenberg et al., 2003; Williams, 1999). While the increases in salinity over the last two decades have been modest, some studies have reported that even small increases in salinity can have significant impacts on the biodiversity of freshwater lakes (Cooper & Wissel, 2012; Schallenberg et al., 2003; Van Meter et al., 2011; Williams, 1999; Wissel et al., 2011). At sublethal thresholds, freshwater organisms face higher osmoregulatory costs which can alter life history parameters such as lifespan and reproductive rates (Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007). High salinities can lead to losses of key species and changes in community dynamics and ecosystem function (Corsi et al., 2010; Hintz et al., 2017; Kefford et al., 2016; Nielsen et al., 2003).

While increases in salinity due to road salt application are a near-term concern and have been the focus of intense media interest, climate change is also expected to have a significant impact on lake salinity levels in the coming decades (Williams, 1999; Wissel et al., 2011; Dugan et al., 2017). Climate-driven changes in salinity are especially concerning for lakes in the Great Plains of North America, where decreased precipitation and rising temperatures are expected to increase the frequency of droughts (Dai, 2013; O'Reilly et al., 2015; Sauchyn et al., 2002). The landscape in this region is dense with surface waters that have salt concentrations ranging from freshwater (<1 g  $L^{-1}$ ) to many times above oceanic salinities (up to 400 g  $L^{-1}$ ; Last & Ginn, 2005; Wissel et al., 2011). Many of these lakes are endorheic (closed basin) lakes which receive water primarily from precipitation, making them very sensitive to changes in precipitation levels (Van Der Kamp, Keir & Evans, 2008; Wissel et al., 2011). Paleolimnological studies in the region show that lake salinity levels regularly fluctuate, rising during drought conditions and falling during periods of above average precipitation (Fritz et al., 2000; Michels et al., 2007). In response to models that predict drier conditions for the prairies in the coming decades (Sauchyn et al., 2002; Dai, 2012), there has been increased interest in understanding how salinization will impact water quality and biota for the region's lakes (Covich et al., 1997; Williams, 1999; Fritz et al., 2000; Wissel et al., 2011; Cooper & Wissel, 2012).

One group of organisms that may be impacted by rising salinity levels in Great Plains' lakes are zooplankton. Zooplankton are aquatic microinvertebrates that occupy the lower levels of the aquatic food web. They feed on periphyton and phytoplankton and are important prey items for larger invertebrates and young fish (Thompson, 2012). A synoptic survey of 70 lakes in the Great Plains concluded that salinity is the primary force structuring zooplankton communities in this region (Wissel et al., 2011). Low salinity lakes have a mixture of cladocerans, calanoid

copepods, and cyclopoid copepods, while high salinity lakes (>  $3.5 \text{ g TDS L}^{-1}$ ) contain only harpacticoids and *Artemia* (Wissel et al., 2011). Past studies on aquatic ecosystems in other parts of the world have also found that higher salinity levels are associated with lower taxonomic richness, diversity, abundance, and biomass of zooplankton, and that salinization can cause shifts in community composition toward halotolerant species (Schallenberg et al., 2003; Wissel et al., 2011; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Hintz et al., 2017). The results of many laboratory-based studies confirm that most freshwater zooplankton have a low tolerance to dissolved salts (EPA, 1988; Arnér & Koivisto, 1993; Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007). Therefore, both distributional data and laboratory assays suggest that freshwater zooplankton communities are sensitive to salinity levels, indicating that communities may change as salinities increase in Great Plains' lakes.

Theory and manipulative experiments have indicated that when zooplankton communities are faced with a changing environment, dispersal of individuals within the regional metacommunity can act to buffer against structural and functional changes at the local level (Klug *et al.*, 2000; Cottenie & De Meester, 2004; Binks, Arnott & Sprules, 2005; Keitt & Fischer, 2006; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013). Within a regional species pool, multiple species may have overlapping taxonomic representation and functional roles such that individuals from the larger metacommunity could substitute for a loss in a local community (Loreau *et al.*, 2003; Cottenie & De Meester, 2004; Symons & Arnott, 2013). In the case of salinity change, dispersal could minimize taxonomic and ecological changes by allowing salinity-intolerant organisms to be replaced by salinity-tolerant groups that are functionally or taxonomically similar. For example, one species of *Daphnia* could be replaced by another, or a salinity-tolerant genotype of a *Daphnia* species could replace a salinity intolerant member of the

same species. Under this scenario, overall ecosystem function and zooplankton community structure might be unaffected by salinization despite changes to the list of species or genotypes present. The likelihood that dispersal could act to counter salinity-driven changes in this manner depends on two assumptions: (1) That dispersal occurs at a temporal and spatial scale that is significant enough to compensate for losses; and (2) That variation in salinity tolerance among individuals and species occurs among lakes with varying salinity levels. It is difficult to evaluate assumption one without field studies in the region of interest, as published studies on zooplankton dispersal differ widely in their conclusions about dispersal rates (Audet et al., 2013; Cohen & Shurin, 2003; Havel & Shurin, 2004; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998; Jenkins, 1995; Márquez & Kolasa, 2013; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2008b). Some past studies support assumption two, as there is evidence that zooplankton can evolve to tolerate higher salinity levels (Coldsnow et al., 2017) and that there are differences in salinity tolerance both within and among species (Weider & Hebert, 1987; EPA, 1988). Manipulative experiments also provide some support for dispersal acting as a buffer against community change in the case of rising salinities (Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013) and for zooplankton communities exposed to several other stressors such as nutrient enrichment (Forrest & Arnott, 2006), acidification (Steiner et al., 2011) and introduced predators (Howeth & Leibold, 2010).

Although there have been some excellent studies examining the response of zooplankton communities to rising salinities, we are not aware of any that have been conducted in a region like the Great Plains where salinity is highly variable over space and time. As a result, the magnitude of the salinity changes tested in previous studies were quite small (<1 g L<sup>-1</sup>), paling in comparison to the spatial and temporal heterogeneity in salinity levels experienced for prairie lakes. In addition, the animals used in these other studies were unlikely to have an evolutionary

trajectory influenced by the fluctuating salinity levels characteristic of lakes in this region. In this study, we conduct a field enclosure experiment to test if dispersal among prairie lakes could act to buffer zooplankton communities against salinity-driven changes. We manipulate dispersal and salinity levels in our enclosures and examine how community structure and functional composition of zooplankton changed over a six-week experiment. In addition, we perform laboratory toxicity experiments to test if intra- and interspecific variability in salinity tolerance is detectable for common zooplankton species collected from prairie lakes. Our results show that there is variability within and between species in terms of salinity tolerance, and that dispersal can buffer against changes in community structure if salinity increases are moderate (2.5-5.0 g L<sup>-1</sup>). However, communities exposed to higher salinity levels (7.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) changed even though they received a regular influx of dispersers from nearby brackish lakes.

## 2.3. Materials and methods

#### 2.3.1. Field study

#### **Treatments**

Our field experiment was conducted over a six-week period on Kenosee Lake (49.827°N, 102.299W) in Moose Mountain Provincial Park, Saskatchewan, from June to early August 2017. Figure 2.1a provides a timeline for the experiment. A series of floating polyethylene enclosures were deployed on the lake and each enclosure was filled with ~1178 L of unfiltered lake water to stock zooplankton communities at natural densities. The experiment consisted of eight unique treatments, replicated three times for 24 enclosures in total (Figure 2.1b). The four salinity treatments were 0.95 (ambient control), 2.5, 5.0, and 7.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>. This range was chosen based on LC<sub>50</sub> values of common zooplankton taxa expected to be found in the Great Plains, and is easily

within the range of climate-driven salinity level change documented from paleolimnological studies of lakes in the region (Kefford et al., 2004; Laird et al., 1998; Martínez-Jerónimo & Martínez-Jerónimo, 2007; Michels et al., 2007; Mount et al., 1997). The salt formulation added to enclosures was based on the average chemical composition of saline lakes in the Northern Great Plains (Table 1; Last, 1992). To achieve the final desired salinity in each enclosure, salt was added gradually in increments of 2.5 g  $L^{-1}$  per day (Figure 2.1b).

The four salinity treatments were crossed with two dispersal treatments: passive and active, where the latter would be regularly stocked with fixed volumes of zooplankton collected from lakes with salinity levels higher than Kenosee Lake (hereafter referred to as 'dispersers'). Our rationale was that these lakes would contain zooplankton adapted to living under elevated salinity levels. To obtain dispersers for our dispersal treatments, zooplankton were collected and added every 10 days using a 30 cm, 63 µm conical zooplankton net from three donor lakes: Big Quill Lake (51.871N, 104.383W), Peter Lake (51.461N, 104.926W) and an unnamed lake at 49.697N, 102.204W. The salinities of these lakes were 5.6, 3.5, and 1.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The zooplankton samples were kept in 10 L carbuoys filled with filtered lake water and placed in coolers with ice packs for transport to enclosures on Kenosee Lake. Dispersers from the three lakes were combined, gently homogenized, and then introduced to the dispersal treatments at a concentration that represented a dispersal rate of approximately 1% of ambient zooplankton abundance per day (i.e. 1% of population size in each enclosure). This dispersal rate was chosen with reference to a previous study that found a 0.01 - 0.63% daily total zooplankton dispersal rate between interconnected ponds (Michels et al., 2001). The dispersal level we used is likely significantly higher than for natural rates among unconnected water bodies but was selected to maximize the potential of observing an effect over our relatively short six-week experiment. The

passive dispersal treatments did not receive any dispersers collected from donor lakes but did receive filtered water from these lakes in volumes that matched the inoculum for the dispersal treatments (~ 5 L). Dispersers were added to enclosures on day 11, 21 and 31 (Figure 2.1a). On each of these occasions, three replicate aliquots of dispersers were collected and preserved in 95% ethanol to examine the taxonomic composition of animals being introduced to the dispersal treatments.

## Sampling and identification

To examine the changes in zooplankton community structure through time, zooplankton samples were collected from enclosures after the experiment was fully set up (day 10) and at the end of the experiment on day 42. Samples were collected from the middle of each enclosure by conducting a vertical tow with a 15 cm diameter, 80  $\mu$ m conical zooplankton net. Based on the net diameter and the length of the tow, we collected approximately 3% of the zooplankton population from each enclosure at each sampling date. Samples were preserved in 95% ethanol and transported to the laboratory for enumeration. Salinity and pH levels were measured in each enclosure at the time of zooplankton sampling using a handheld Cole-Parmer PC100 pH Conductivity Meter. The salinity levels remained relatively consistent during the first four weeks of the experiments (expected salinity for each treatment  $\pm$  0.81 g L<sup>-1</sup>) but dropped approximately 1.0 g L<sup>-1</sup> in the final two weeks of the experiment due to heavy rains.

Taxonomic guides and primary literature sources were consulted in identifying most zooplankton to the species level. *Skistodiaptomus oregonesis* and *Skistodiaptomus reighardi* were grouped together, as were the close relatives *Daphnia pulicaria*, *D. schodleri* and *D. pulex*, which were identified as *D. pulicaria* due to modern taxonomic changes. The main resources used were the Image-based Key to North American Zooplankton by Haney *et al.*, (2013), and two identification guides by Balcer et al. (1984) and Witty (2004). Zooplankton samples were placed on a Ward counting wheel for enumeration using a dissecting microscope. When required, individual animals were transferred to a glass microscope slide and examined at higher magnification under a compound microscope. Immature copepods were classified as either copepodites or nauplii and were not identified further.

## Choosing functional traits

Functional diversity of communities is often associated with ecosystem functioning, making it an important consideration in the context of community change (Villéger et al. 2008). To examine changes in the functional metrics of the zooplankton communities in our enclosures, we gathered information on habitat preference, trophic group, feeding type, and mean body length. A complete trait table was derived from a review study by Barnett et al. (2007) that used online databases to investigate freshwater zooplankton species in North America. Other sources were consulted for trait data on Microcyclops rubellus (Enríquez García et al., 2009; Gutiérrez-Aguirre et al., 2016; Thompson et al., 2015). Trophic group describes three feeding preferences on an ordinal scale: herbivore, omnivore, and omnivore-carnivore. Classes with two categories represent intermediate stages (Vogt et al., 2013). Habitat preference indicates whether species generally occupy the pelagic or littoral zone. Feeding strategy is grouped into six types: Bfiltration, D-filtration, C-filtration, S-filtration, raptorial, or stationary suspension. Assignment to feeding style categories depended on which body features support the filtering mechanism and whether the species is an active or passive feeder. Mean body length was also included as it can be associated with feeding interactions and productivity (Barnett et al., 2007).

#### Statistical analyses

To visualize differences in community structure among our enclosures, a principal component analysis (PCA) was performed on Hellinger transformed species abundances using the prcomp function in the stats package for R (R Core Team 2018). Following recommendations by Lepš and Šmilauer (2003), rare species were removed before the analysis if they were not present in at least 20% of samples (<9 enclosures).

To compare species richness and species diversity among enclosures, we used indices that account for differences in the number of individuals identified among enclosures. For richness, we used rarefaction to calculate values that reflect sampling effort for each enclosure (Hurlbert, 2006). Rarefaction accounts for differences in sampling effort by resampling abundance data for a particular site thousands of times to determine the average number of species identified for a given number of individuals collected (Gotelli & Colwell, 2001). We rarefied communities to 98 individuals, which was the lowest number of individuals identified from a single enclosure. Rarefaction was conducted using the rarefy function in the "vegan" package for R (Oksanen et al. 2017). Similarly, the diversity index used corrected for differences in taxonomic/sampling effort. Diversity was calculated according to Chao's method for calculating rarified Hill numbers (Chao *et al.*, 2014). We used the estimateD function in the iNEXT package for R to calculate rarified order 1 Hill numbers representative of the exponential of Shannon's entropy index (Hsieh et al., 2016).

To calculate functional measures of richness, diversity, and evenness, we used the dbFD function in the FD package in R (Laliberté et al. 2014). The functional richness and evenness calculations in this package are based on Villéger et al. (2008). We used Rao's quadratic entropy as the measure of functional diversity (Botta-Dukát, 2005). To correct for sample size

differences among enclosures that might bias estimates of functional richness or diversity, we used a bootstrap approach for their estimation. The bootstrap was run 1000 times and each time a random selection of 98 individuals was selected from each enclosure to calculate functional richness and diversity. We then took the average of the 1000 bootstraps to arrive at the functional richness and diversity values for each enclosure.

The effects of salinity and dispersal on various community metrics were tested using 2way ANOVAs. The metrics included three taxonomic diversity indices (rarified species richness, Hill diversity, evenness), and their functional counterparts (functional richness, Rao's quadratic diversity and functional evenness), as well as total abundance. Immature copepods and nauplii were removed in the calculation of all diversity indices since they were not identified to the species level. Assumptions of normality were tested by plotting a histogram of the residuals and a Levene's test was conducted to ensure data met the assumption of equal variances (all assumptions were met). A post hoc analysis using Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test was performed when ANOVA results were significant. For the ANOVAs, we expected to find differences among treatments based on salinity and dispersal but were most interested in the interaction between these two factors. A significant interaction could indicate that the effect of salinity on our response variables depended on dispersal, such that active dispersal treatments maintained higher levels of richness or diversity while those not receiving dispersers experienced decreases.

A power analysis was conducted to determine the statistical power we had to detect differences among our treatments based on the variability of our response variables within and among treatments. The power analysis was run for both rarified richness and Hill Diversity. The analysis was carried out by way of bootstrap simulations in R. Briefly, during each bootstrap

(repeat) a simulated dataset with known differences among treatments was created. The simulated data for each treatment was created by drawing a random number from a normal distribution given mean and a standard deviation values that matched the data found in our experiment. So, for example, in one run of the simulation, the mean species richness could be 10 in the active dispersal treatment and 9 in the passive dispersal treatment. The rnorm function in R would then be used to create the simulated dataset with means of 9 or 10, depending on treatment, with variability matching that found in the real experiment. The simulation is then run 1000 times and the proportion of times the p-value is significant is the statistical power (since we know a real difference existed because the data were simulated). For each factor (dispersal, salinity) and their interaction, a plot was generated to show the statistical power to detect a difference in richness or diversity between 0 and 100%.

## 2.3.2. Laboratory experiments

In July 2018, two sets of clones of *D. pulicaria* and *C. sphaericus* were collected from several lakes in North Dakota with varying salinity levels (Table 5). Samples were brought back to the laboratory to establish monospecific cultures for use in acute toxicity tests. Animals were cultured in COMBO medium (Kilham et al. 1998) with added NaCl to match resident lake levels and avoid osmotic shock. Cultures were housed in an environmental chamber with a 12-h light and 12-h dark cycle under a temperature range of 24°C to 26°C. Cultures were fed weekly with live *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* algae that was cultured in a 0.01:1 mixture of Bold's Basal Medium and COMBO. Before toxicity tests were conducted, cultures were reared through at least five generations to minimize maternal or environmental effects (Coldsnow *et al.*, 2017). Individuals with a similar size were selected for assays to minimize age-specific tolerances. For

each assay, 10 individuals were placed in a 120 mL beaker. The medium in the beaker was COMBO adjusted to increasing salinities by the addition of NaCl according to species-specific treatment conditions (*Daphnia* were generally more salinity-tolerant than chydorids, so received salinity treatments with a higher range). The animals were observed after 48 hours and a 48-h effective concentration (EC50) was calculated for each species using the "drc" package in R (Ritz et al., 2015). The EC50 for this study was defined as the concentration needed to immobilize 50% of the individuals after two days. The assays were replicated three times for each species collected from each lake.

## 2.4. Results

## Community changes

At the beginning of the experiment, communities were not structured by either of our treatment variables. At the conclusion of the experiment, communities in the passive dispersal enclosures were structured along PCA axis 1 by salinity. Low salinity treatments (1, 2.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) contained a mixture of cladocerans and cyclopoid copepods, while high salinity treatments (5, 7.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>) shifted toward communities dominated by the calanoid copepods *Skistodiaptomus pallidus* and *Leptodiaptomus sicilis* (Figure 2.2a). This interpretation is supported by the abundance data which show cladocerans outnumbering copepods in low salinity passive dispersal treatments, but not at the highest salinity (7.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>, Figure 2.3). In contrast with those results, active dispersal treatments did not show a clear gradient in community structure related to salinity at the conclusion of the experiment, with the exception of the highest salinity treatment (7.5 g L<sup>-1</sup>), which grouped apart from the other enclosures in the ordination (Figure 2.2b). In addition, cladocerans remained numerically dominant in active dispersal enclosures

(Figure 2.3). Some of the cladoceran species which remained abundant in elevated salinity active dispersal enclosures (*D. rosea, D. pulicaria* and *D. mendotae*) were present in lakes from which dispersers were collected.

Richness, abundance, diversity, and evenness did not differ significantly among our enclosures at the beginning of the experiment (Two-way ANOVAs; p-values>0.05). Samples from the end of the experiment showed that salinity had a significant affect on richness, but not abundance, diversity, or evenness of the communities (Table 3). The dispersal treatment (active or passive) did not significantly affect any of the univariate metrics except for functional evenness (Table 3). Despite the lack of a significant interaction between salinity and dispersal in the ANOVAs, the patterns for abundance and evenness were compelling, with both variables appearing to decline with increased salinity in the passive but not active enclosures (Figure 2.4).

Salinity and dispersal interacted to determine functional evenness, with communities in active dispersal enclosures maintaining evenness at elevated salinity levels, while communities in passive dispersal enclosures became more uneven (Figure 2.5; Table 3). Functional richness and Rao's diversity showed no significant differences among treatments (Figure 2.5; Table 3).

## Power analysis

Based on the number of replicates in our experiment and the variability of communities among our enclosures, our experiment had a high power ( $\geq 0.8$ ) to detect a statistically significant difference for species richness if there was a difference in richness among treatments of 30%, 25%, and 65% for salinity, dispersal, and their interaction, respectively (Figure 2.6). For species diversity, a high power would have been achieved with differences in diversity values of 50%, 40%, and >90% for salinity, dispersal, and their interaction (Figure 2.6).

## EC50 values

A one-way ANOVA indicated significant differences in EC50 values for *D. pulicaria* collected from lakes with differing salinities, with those collected from the higher salinity lake having a higher tolerance for salinity (P<0.01; Figure 2.7a). EC50 values did not differ for clones of *C. sphaericus* collected from lakes of differing salinities (P = 0.67; Figure 2.7b).

#### **2.5. Discussion**

Our experiments provided evidence that dispersal of individuals among lakes could reduce salinity-induced changes in zooplankton communities, suggesting that overall community structure could be maintained in the case of moderate salinity increases. Communities exposed to elevated salinities that did not receive augmented dispersal from surrounding lakes experienced a decrease in cladoceran abundances, resulting in communities dominated by copepod species. In contrast, communities that received augmented dispersal contained a balanced mix of cladocerans and copepods despite exposure to increased salinity levels. Studies conducted with zooplankton from other regions and at much lower salinity levels have also reported a significant role for dispersal in maintaining cladocerans in salt-stressed communities (Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Sinclair & Arnott, 2018). The maintenance of cladocerans in enclosures that received dispersal could be the result of two distinct processes: 1) a rescue effect; or 2) the introduction of salt-tolerant clones or species to the community. If the maintenance of cladocerans can be solely attributed to the rescue effect, then the response we found could simply be the result of immigration boosting population sizes and lowering the probability of extinction due to demographic and environmental stochasticity (Brown & Kodric-brown, 1977). Under that scenario, waterbodies with increased salinity levels would remain suboptimal sink habitats where

mortality exceeds reproduction. Alternatively, cladocerans such as *Daphnia* may have persisted in elevated salinity treatments due to the arrival of salt-tolerant clones sourced from our dispersal lakes. Our laboratory studies of NaCl toxicity showed that salinity tolerance can differ between clones of *D. pulicaria* found on the Great Plains, demonstrating the plausibility of this mechanism. In addition, several studies conducted in other regions have reported significant differences in salt sensitivity among clones of other *Daphnia* species, including *D. pulex* and *D. magna*, likely due to their history of exposure to elevated salinity levels (Weider & Hebert, 1987; Arnér & Koivisto, 1993; Teschner, 1995; Sinclair & Arnott, 2018).

Univariate measures of community structure did not show consistent patterns of change in response to salinity and dispersal. We expected the ANOVAs for abundance, richness, diversity, and evenness to reveal significant interactions between salinity and dispersal, such that communities that received dispersal would maintain values for these metrics that mirrored control treatments, while those without dispersal would see significant changes. Instead, the only significant result we obtained was for salinity driving reduced species richness; a result that was expected based on previous surveys conducted in the region (Wissel et al., 2011). Our failure to detect an interaction between salinity and dispersal suggests either that dispersal was unable to buffer against change in these metrics, or that we simply did not have the statistical power to detect such a phenomenon. We lean toward the latter explanation, as we believe there are some patterns in our results for richness and diversity that suggest these metrics were stable for dispersal-augmented communities exposed to moderate salinities (2.5, 5.0 %), but declined in communities exposed to those same salinities without dispersal (Figure 2.3). Our power analyses showed that the interaction between salinity and dispersal would have needed to lead to a difference of at least 65% for richness and >90% for diversity in order for our ANOVAs to

achieve a high statistical power (80% probability of rejecting a false null hypothesis; (Cohen, 1988). In our actual experiments, the largest difference in richness and diversity that could have driven an interaction were on the order of 25-30% (Figure S1), which means we had relatively low power to detect this type of relationship (Figure 2.6).

Of our functional metrics, only functional evenness showed a relationship with the two factors in our experiment. Dispersal appeared to successfully counter salinity-driven reductions in functional evenness by maintaining cladocerans in elevated salinity treatments, thereby allowing for a more even distribution of both cladocerans and copepods (which tend to have different trophic groups and feeding types) in functional space (Villéger *et al.*, 2008). The lack of a response of functional richness and diversity to elevated salinity levels was surprising given that taxonomic richness declined with salinity in our experiment. The results for richness and diversity could mean that elevated salinity levels have little effect on the distribution of functional traits in zooplankton communities, but we were only able to obtain complete information for four functional traits, providing a very coarse outline of the potential variation in functional traits among the communities in our enclosures. Studies of changes in functional diversity for zooplankton communities would benefit greatly from some basic ecological research to define and categorize functional traits for common freshwater zooplankton.

When simulating dispersal during our enclosure experiments, we chose a dispersal rate of  $\sim$ 1% of the resident community abundance per day – a level chosen based on studies of an interconnected pond system (Michels et al., 2001) and our desire to test our hypotheses within a reasonable time frame (six-week experiment). Given the lack of stream connectivity for the endorheic lakes in our study area, the dispersal rates in our experiment were likely much higher than natural rates for most lakes on the Great Plains. For example, the lake on which we ran our

experiment (Kenosee Lake) lacks stream connections except at high water levels (Vance et al., 1997), making direct dispersal impossible during droughts. However, it may receive dispersers transported by terrestrial animals and waterfowl that travel among the dozens of prairie pothole lakes located within 5 km of its shoreline (Hessen et al., 2019; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2008b). We speculate that the level of dispersal among these types of prairie lakes are likely comparable to that among rock pools in Churchill, Manitoba where low (limited) dispersal rates have been documented in past studies (Ng et al., 2009; Vanschoenwinkel et al., 2008a). It is likely that the ability of dispersal to compensate for salinity-driven changes will depend both on the rate of change in salinity as well as the rate of dispersal of zooplankton among lakes on the landscape (Cottenie & De Meester, 2004). Using paleolimnological records and climate projections it is possible to model future drought conditions that will impact lake salinity levels (Fritz et al., 2000; Dai, 2012), but future studies aimed at quantifying zooplankton dispersal rates in the region are needed to fully understand the problem. Given the lack of data about zooplankton dispersal in the region, our study should be viewed as a test of the potential for dispersal to buffer zooplankton communities against salinity-driven change, rather than one that can provide a definitive answer.

Our study provides evidence that dispersal may be able to reduce structural changes in zooplankton communities impacted by climate-driven salinity change in Great Plains' lakes. Elevated salinity levels led to shifts in community composition, including reductions in cladoceran abundances relative to copepods, but these changes were muted by the immigration of individuals from surrounding lakes. In addition, our laboratory experiments showed that intraspecific variation in salinity tolerance can occur when individuals are found in lakes of differing salinities, suggesting that the ability of dispersal to compensate for salinity-driven

losses may not only be a simple rescue effect, but might result from the immigration of salinitytolerant clones from surrounding lakes. Future studies occurring over a longer time-frame would be helpful for disentangling these two mechanisms. Overall, our results correspond with those of several other studies with plankton communities that have shown the importance of dispersal for maintaining community structure and function in the face of environmental change (Cottenie & De Meester, 2004; Strecker & Arnott, 2010; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013). Given the importance of dispersal for zooplankton communities responding to a changing environment, it will be important to preserve regional biodiversity and the mechanisms and pathways that allow for dispersal of individuals among lakes and ponds on the Great Plains.

## 2.6. Acknowledgements

This work was funded by NSERC Canada and Wilfrid Laurier University. Research permits were issued by the Government of Saskatchewan and Saskatchewan Parks. Accommodations were provided by Moose Mountain Provincial Parks with help from Joan Adams. We thank Carly Tward and Mariam Elmarsafy for help during field collections and Evan Chang, Lizzy Hughes, and Trinity Fraser-Sintic for assisting in the laboratory.

## 2.7. References

- Arnér M. & Koivisto S. (1993). Effects of salinity on metabolism and life history characteristics of *Daphnia magna*. *Hydrobiologia* 259, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00008373
- Audet C., MacPhee S. & Keller W. (2013). Colonization of constructed ponds by crustacean zooplankton: local and regional influences. *Journal of Limnology* 72, 524–530. https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2013.e43
- Balcer, M. D., Korda N. L., Dodson S.I. (1984). Zooplankton of the Great Lakes: A Guide to the Identification and Ecology of the Common Crustacean Species. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Barnett A.J., Finlay K. & Beisner B.E. (2007). Functional diversity of crustacean zooplankton communities: Towards a trait-based classification. *Freshwater Biology* 52, 796–813. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01733.x
- Binks J.A., Arnott S.E. & Sprules W.G. (2005). Local factors and colonist dispersal influence crustacean zooplankton recovery from cultural acidification. *Ecological Applications* 15, 2025–2036. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-1726
- Botta-Dukát Z. (2005). Rao's quadratic entropy as a measure of functional diversity based on multiple traits. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 16, 533–540.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02393.x
- Brown J.H. & Kodric-Brown A. (1977). Turnover rates in insular biogeography: Effect of immigration on extinction. *Ecology* **58**, 445–449
- Chao A., Gotelli N.J., Hsieh T.C., Sander E.L., Ma K.H., Colwell R.K., *et al.* (2014). Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers : A framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. *Ecological Monographs* 84, 45–67. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-

0133.1

- Cohen G.M. & Shurin J.B. (2003). Scale-dependence and mechanisms of dispersal in freshwater zooplankton. *Oikos* **103**, 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12660.x
- Cohen J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*, 2nd edn. Lawrence Erlbaum, Hillsdale, New Jersey.

Coldsnow K.D., Mattes B.M., Hintz W.D. & Relyea R.A. (2017). Rapid evolution of tolerance to road salt in zooplankton. *Environmental Pollution* 222, 367–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.12.024

- Cooper R.N. & Wissel B. (2012). Interactive effects of chemical and biological controls on foodweb composition in saline prairie lakes. *Aquatic Biosystems* 8, 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-9063-8-29
- Corsi S.R., Graczyk D.J., Geis S.W., Booth N.L. & Richards K.D. (2010). A fresh look at road salt: Aquatic toxicity and water-quality impacts on local, regional, and national scales. *Environmental Science and Technology* 44, 7376–7382
- Cottenie K. & De Meester L. (2004). Metacommunity structure: Synergy of biotic interactions as selective agents and dispersal as fuel. *Ecology* 85, 114–119. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-3004
- Covich A.P., Fritz S.C., Lamb P.J., Marzolf R.D., Matthews W.J., Poiani K.A., *et al.* (1997). Potential effects of climate change on aquatic ecosystems of the Great Plains of North America. *Hydrological Processes* **11**, 993–1021. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19970630)11:8<993::AID-HYP515>3.0.CO;2-N
- Dai A. (2012). Increasing drought under global warming in observations and models. *Nature Climate Change* **3**, 52–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1633

- Dugan H.A., Bartlett S.L., Burke S.M., Doubek J.P., Krivak-Tetley F.E., Skaff N.K., et al.
  (2017). Salting our freshwater lakes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*114, 4453–4458. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1620211114
- Enríquez García C., Nandini S. & Sarma S.S.S. (2009). Seasonal dynamics of zooplankton in Lake Huetzalin, Xochimilco (Mexico City, Mexico). *Limnologica* **39**, 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2009.06.010

EPA (1988). Ambient aquatic life water criteria for chloride. Washington, D.C.

- Forrest J. & Arnott S.E. (2006). Immigration and zooplankton community responses to nutrient enrichment: a mesocosm experiment. *Oecologia* 150, 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0490-4
- Fritz S.C., Ito E., Yu Z., Laird K.R. & Engstrom D.R. (2000). Hydrologic variation in the northern Great Plains during the last two millennia. *Quaternary Research* 53, 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1006/qres.1999.2115
- Gotelli N.J. & Colwell R.K. (2001). Quantifying biodiversity: Procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. *Ecology Letters* 4, 379–391. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2001.00230.x
- Gutiérrez-Aguirre M.A. & Cervantes-Martínez A. (2016). Taxonomic evaluation of eleven species of *Microcyclops* Claus, 1893 (Copepoda, Cyclopoida) and description of *Microcyclops inarmatus* sp. n. from America. *ZooKeys* 603, 33–69. https://doi.org/10.3897/zookeys.603.7480
- Haney J.F., Aliberti M.A., Allan E., Allard S., Bauer D.J., Beagen W., *et al.* (2013). An imagebased key to the zooplankton of North America, version 5.0

Havel J.E. & Shurin J.B. (2004). Mechanisms, effects, and scales of dispersal in freshwater

zooplankton. *Limnology and Oceanography* **49**, 1229–1238. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2004.49.4\_part\_2.1229

Hessen D.O., Jensen T.C. & Walseng B. (2019). Zooplankton diversity and dispersal by birds; insights from different geographical scales. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 74. https://doi.org/10.3389/FEVO.2019.00074

Hintz W.D., Mattes B.M., Schuler M.S., Jones D.K., Stoler A.B., Lind L., *et al.* (2017).
Salinization triggers a trophic cascade in experimental freshwater communities with varying food-chain length. *Ecological Applications* 27, 833–844.
https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1487

- Howeth J.G. & Leibold M.A. (2010). Species dispersal rates alter diversity and ecosystem stability in pond metacommunities. *Ecology* **91**, 2727–2741. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1004.1
- Hsieh T.C., Ma K.H. & Chao A. (2016). iNEXT: an R package for rarefaction and extrapolation of species diversity (Hill numbers). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 1451–1456. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12613
- Hurlbert S.H. (2006). The nonconcept of species diversity: A critique and alternative parameters. *Ecology* **52**, 577–586. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934145
- Jenkins D.G. (1995). Dispersal-limited zooplankton distribution and community composition in new ponds. *Hydrobiologia* **313/314**, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00025926
- Jenkins D.G. & Underwood M.O. (1998). Zooplankton may not disperse readily in wind, rain or waterfowl. *Hydrobiologia* **388**, 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- Van Der Kamp G., Keir D. & Evans M.S. (2008). Long-term water level changes in closed-basin lakes of the Canadian prairies. *Canadian Water Resources Journal* **33**, 23–38.

https://doi.org/10.4296/cwrj3301023

- Kaushal S.S., Likens G.E., Pace M.L., Utz R.M., Haq S., Gorman J., et al. (2018). Freshwater salinization syndrome on a continental scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, E574–E583. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711234115
- Kefford B.J., Buchwalter D., Cañedo-Argüelles M., Davis J., Duncan R.P., Hoffmann A., *et al.* (2016). Salinized rivers: degraded systems or new habitats for salt-tolerant faunas? *Biology Letters* 12, 20151072. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2015.1072
- Kefford B.J., Palmer C.G., Pakhomova L. & Nugegoda D. (2004). Comparing test systems to measure the salinity tolerance of freshwater invertebrates. *Water SA* 30, 499–506. https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v30i4.5102
- Keitt T.H. & Fischer J. (2006). Detection of scale-specific community dynamics using wavelets. *Ecology* **87**, 2895–904
- Kilham, S.S., Kreeger, D.A., Lynn, S.G., Goulden, C.E., Herrera, L. (1998). COMBO: A defined freshwater culture medium for algae and zooplankton. *Hydrobiologia*, **377**, 147–159. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003231628456.
- Klug J.L., Fischer J.M., Ives A.R. & Dennis B. (2000). Compensatory dynamics in planktonic community responses to pH perturbations. *Ecology* 81, 389–398. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[0387:CDIPCR]2.0.CO;2

Laliberté E, Legendre P, Shipley B. FD: Measuring functional diversity from multiple traits, and

Laird K.R., Fritz S.C. & Cumming B.F. (1998). A diatom-based reconstruction of drought intensity, duration, and frequency from Moon Lake, North Dakota: A sub-decadal record of the last 2300 years. *Journal of Paleolimnology* **19**, 161–179. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007929006001

other tools for functional ecology. (2014). R package version 1.0–12. Retrieved from http://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/FD

- Last W.M. (1992). Chemical composition of saline and subsaline lakes of the northern Great Plains, western Canada. *International Journal of Salt Lake Research* **1**, 47–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02904362
- Last W.M. & Ginn F.M. (2005). Saline systems of the Great Plains of western Canada: an overview of the limnogeology and paleolimnology. *Saline systems* 1, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-1448-1-10
- Lepš, J., and P. Šmilauer. (2003) *Multivariate analysis of ecological data using CANOCO*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K
- Loreau M., Mouquet N. & Gonzalez A. (2003). Biodiversity as spatial insurance in heterogeneous landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 12765– 12770. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2235465100
- Márquez J.C. & Kolasa J. (2013). Local and regional processes in community assembly. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e54580. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054580
- Martínez-Jerónimo F. & Martínez-Jerónimo L. (2007). Chronic effect of NaCl salinity on a freshwater strain of *Daphnia magna* Straus (Crustacea: Cladocera): A demographic study. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 67, 411–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.08.009
- Van Meter R.J., Swan C.M., Leips J. & Snodgrass J.W. (2011). Road salt stress induces novel food web structure and interactions. *Wetlands* **31**, 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-011-0199-y

Michels A., Laird K.R., Wilson S.E., Thomson D., Leavitt P.R., Oglesby R.J., et al. (2007).
Multidecadal to millennial-scale shifts in drought conditions on the Canadian prairies over the past six millennia: Implications for future drought assessment. *Global Change Biology* **13**, 1295–1307. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01367.x

- Michels E., Cottenie K., Neys L. & De Meester L. (2001). Zooplankton on the move: First results on the quantification of dispersal of zooplankton in a set of interconnected ponds. *Hydrobiologia* 442, 117–126
- Moore J.E. (1952). The Entomostraca of Southern Saskatchewan. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **30**, 410–451. https://doi.org/10.1139/z52-036
- Mount D.R., Gulley D.D., Hockett J.R., Garrison T.D. & Evans J.M. (1997). Statistical models to predict the toxicity of major ions to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*, *Daphnia magna* and *Pimephales promelas* (fathead minnows). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 16, 2009–2019. https://doi.org/10.1897/1551-5028(1997)016<2009:SMTPTT>2.3.CO;2
- Ng I.S.Y., Carr C.M. & Cottenie K. (2009). Hierarchical zooplankton metacommunities: distinguishing between high and limiting dispersal mechanisms. *Hydrobiologia* **619**, 133– 143
- Nielsen D.L., Brock M.A., Rees G.N. & Baldwin D.S. (2003). Effects of increasing salinity on freshwater ecosystems in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany* 51, 655–665. https://doi.org/10.1071/BT02115
- Oksanen, J., Guillaume Blanchet, F., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D. et al. (2017). vegan: Community ecology package. R package version 2.4-2. Retrieved from https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- O'Reilly C.M., Sharma S., Gray D.K., Hampton S.E., Read J.S., Rowley R.J., *et al.* (2015). Rapid and highly variable warming of lake surface waters around the globe. *Geophysical*

*Research Letters* **42**, 10,773–10,781. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015GL066235

- Ritz, C., Baty, F., Streibig, J. C., Gerhard, D. (2015). Dose-Response Analysis Using R. PLoS ONE, 10, e0146021. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0146021
- Sauchyn D.J., Barrow E.M., Hopkinson R.F. & Leavitt P.R. (2002). Aridity on the Canadian Plains. *Géographie physique et Quaternaire* **56**, 247. https://doi.org/10.7202/009109ar
- Schallenberg M., Hall C.J. & Burns C.W. (2003). Consequences of climate-induced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 251, 181–189. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps251181
- Sinclair J.S. & Arnott S.E. (2018). Local context and connectivity determine the response of zooplankton communities to salt contamination. *Freshwater Biology* 62, 1273–1286. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13132
- Steiner C.F., Stockwell R.D., Kalaimani V. & Aqel Z. (2011). Dispersal promotes compensatory dynamics and stability in forced metacommunities. *The American naturalist* 178, 159–70. https://doi.org/10.1086/660835
- Strecker A.L. & Arnott S.E. (2010). Complex interactions between regional dispersal of native taxa and an invasive species. *Ecology* **91**, 1035–1047. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0065.1
- Symons C.C. & Arnott S.E. (2013). Regional zooplankton dispersal provides spatial insurance for ecosystem function. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 1610–1619. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12122
- Teschner M. (1995). Effects of salinity on the life history and fitness of *Daphnia magna*: variability within and between populations. *Hydrobiologia* **307**, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031995

Thompson P.A. (2012). Plankton. A guide to their ecology and monitoring for water quality.

Austral Ecology 37, e7–e8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2012.02360.x

- Thompson P.L., Davies T.J. & Gonzalez A. (2015). Ecosystem functions across trophic levels are linked to functional and phylogenetic diversity. *PLoS ONE* 10, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0117595
- Thompson P.L. & Shurin J.B. (2012). Regional zooplankton biodiversity provides limited buffering of pond ecosystems against climate change. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01908.x
- Vance R.E., Last W.M. & Smith A.J. (1997). Hydrologic and climatic implications of a multidisciplinary study of late Holocene sediment from Kenosee Lake, southeastern Saskatchewan, Canada. *Journal of Paleolimnology* 18, 365–393
- Vanschoenwinkel B., Gielen S., Vandewaerde H., Seaman M. & Brendonck L. (2008a). Relative importance of different dispersal vectors for small aquatic invertebrates in a rock pool metacommunity. *Ecography* **31**, 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.05442.x
- Vanschoenwinkel B., Waterkeyn A., Vandecaetsbeek T., Pineau O., Grillas P. & Brendonck L. (2008b). Dispersal of freshwater invertebrates by large terrestrial mammals: a case study with wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) in Mediterranean wetlands. *Freshwater Biology* 53, 2264– 2273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02071.x
- Villéger S., Mason N.W.H. & Mouillot D. (2008). New multidimensional functional diversity indices for a multifaceted framework in functional ecology. *Ecology* 89, 2290–2301. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1206.1
- Vogt R.J., Peres-Neto P.R. & Beisner B.E. (2013). Using functional traits to investigate the determinants of crustacean zooplankton community structure. *Oikos* **122**, 1700–1709.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00039.x

- Weider L.J. & Hebert P.D.N. (1987). Ecological and physiological differentiation among low-Arctic clones of *Daphnia pulex*. *Ecology* **68**, 188–198
- Williams W.D. (1999). Salinisation: A major threat to water resources in the arid and semi-arid regions of the world. *Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management* 4, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1770.1999.00089.x
- Wissel B., Cooper R.N., Leavitt P.R. & Pham S. V. (2011). Hierarchical regulation of pelagic invertebrates in lakes of the northern Great Plains: A novel model for interdecadal effects of future climate change on lakes. *Global Change Biology* 17, 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02291.x

Witty L.M. (2004). Practical Guide to Identifying Freshwater Crustacean Zooplankton.

Cooperative Freshwater Ecology, Sudbury, Ontario.

## 2.8. Tables

**Table 2.1.** Chemical composition of salt mixture used in field experiment. The ingredients are

 based on the mean concentrations of elements found in lake water of the northern Great Plains

 (Last 1992).

Salt Parameter	Value (g/L)
MgSO <sub>4</sub>	8.26
NaCl	18.16
CaSO <sub>4</sub> -2H <sub>2</sub> O	2.99
$Na_2SO_4$	8.52
KCl	0.4
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	2.25

Lake	Salinity (g/L)	Lake area (km <sup>2</sup> )	Latitude (°N)	Longitude (°W)
Kenosee	0.95	8	49.826	102.294
Big Quill	5.65	249	51.864	104.370
Peter	3.5	45	51.457	104.934
Unnamed	1.5	3	49.718	102.278

**Table 2.2.** Chemical and physical data for Kenosee Lake and for lakes where immigrants

 (dispersers) were collected.

	Salinity (S)		Dispersa	Dispersal (D)		S*D	
Metric	F	Р	F	Р	F	Р	
Abundance	1.53	0.24	0.36	0.55	1.1	0.37	
Species richness	3.65	0.03	1.11	0.3	1.62	0.22	
Diversity	0.54	0.46	0.77	0.52	3.24	0.07	
Evenness	0.57	0.64	0.49	0.49	2.13	0.13	
Functional richness	1.16	0.29	0.002	0.96	0.02	0.88	
Functional evenness	0.68	0.57	15.2	0.001	4.06	0.026	
Rao's diversity	0.68	0.57	0.004	0.94	0.38	0.76	

**Table 2.3.** ANOVA results using data collected at the end of the enclosure experiment.

Species	Habitat	Trophic group	Feeding strategy	Body length
B. longirostris	Pelagic	Herbivore	B-filter	0.40
C. sphaericus	Littoral	Herbivore	C-filter	0.46
D. mendotae	Pelagic	Herbivore	D-filter	2.00
D. pulicaria	Pelagic	Herbivore	D-filter	1.75
D. rosea	Pelagic	Herbivore	D-filter	1.40
D. thomasi	Pelagic	OC	Raptorial	0.84
Leptodiaptomus spp.	Pelagic	Omnivore	Stationary	0.93
M. edax	Pelagic	OC	Raptorial	0.93
Ceriodaphnia spp.	Pelagic	Herbivore	D-filter	0.82
Diaphanosoma spp.	Littoral	Herbivore	S-filter	0.85
Microcyclops spp.	Pelagic	OC	Raptorial	0.59
Skistodiaptomus spp.	Pelagic	Omnivore	Stationary	1.26

**Table 2.4.** Functional trait matrix for zooplankton found in our enclosure experiments. OC = omnivore-carnivore.

**Table 2.5.** Information on lakes from which clones were collected for laboratory salinitytolerance experiments. Also included is the 48 h NaCl effective concentration (EC50 with 95%lower and upper confidence intervals).

Species	Lake	Salinity	Latitude	Longitude	48-h EC50
		(g L <sup>-1</sup> )	(°N)	(°W)	(g L <sup>-1</sup> )
D. pulicaria	East Stump Lake	2.99	47.520	98.212	3.70 (2.74 - 4.95)
	Devil's Lake	1.09	48.112	98.865	1.73 (1.49 – 1.99)
C. sphaericus	Stink Lake	1.66	46.883	99.424	2.11 (1.75 – 2.55)
	Devil's Lake	1.09	48.112	98.865	2.48 (2.01 - 3.06)

## 2.9. Figures

**Figure 2.1.** Timeline (A) and experimental design (B) of the field experiment. F-Mesocosms were filled with water and zooplankton; salt - Salt was added in intervals from day 0 to day 4; S1- first sampling date; disp- immigrants were added to enclosures assigned to the active dispersal treatment; S2- final sampling date.



**Figure 2.2.** A comparison of principal component biplots based on zooplankton abundances found in enclosures at the beginning (A) and end (B) of our experiment. Each point represents a zooplankton community found in an enclosure, with darker shades representing higher salinities.



**Figure 2.3.** Boxplots of total abundance for cladoceran and copepod groups at the end of the experiment. Enclosures in passive dispersal treatments are located in the top panel and active dispersal enclosures are in the bottom panel.



**Figure 2.4.** Taxonomy-based metrics of the zooplankton communities at the end of the experiment. Boxplots display total abundance (a, b), species richness (c,d), Hill diversity (e, f) and Pielou's evenness (g, h) under eight different salinity and dispersal treatments (n = 3 each).



**Figure 2.5.** Functional metrics for zooplankton communities at the end of the six-week field experiment. Boxplots display functional richness (a,b), Rao's diversity (c, d) and functional evenness (e, f) under eight different salinity and dispersal treatments (n = 3 each).



**Figure 2.6.** Results of a power analysis showing the statistical power available to detect differences in richness or diversity among treatments within factors (dispersal, salinity) and the interaction between dispersal and salinity.







**Figure S1.** An interaction plot for richness (A) and diversity (B) constructed using data collected at the end of the enclosure experiment.



# Chapter 3 Conclusions

### 3.1. Summary

This study investigated how projected salinity increases will affect freshwater zooplankton communities in the Great Plains from a metacommunity perspective. We found that experimental dispersal buffered against losses of cladocerans in communities exposed to increased salinities. Our PCAs showed that disturbed communities receiving dispersers maintained a varied abundance of cladocerans and copepods, while communities that did not receive dispersers were dominated by copepods. We proposed two mechanisms enabling dispersal-mediated compensation for lost cladocerans. The first is termed the rescue effect whereby consistent addition of cladocerans allows for sustained recolonization, thereby stabilizing communities in unfavorable habitats. The other explanation, supported by our toxicology findings, suggests dispersers could contain salinity-tolerant cladocerans due to intraspecific variation driven by adaptation to local salinity conditions. While our PCAs showed evidence of buffering by dispersal, this was not observed for univariate community diversity measures despite the reduced species richness and zooplankton abundances caused by increased salinities. Power analysis results suggested that our experiment had a relatively low power to detect such a buffering effect. Overall, simulated dispersal appeared to compensate for some changes driven by moderate salinity increases in zooplankton communities, but not others.

While the conclusions of this study provide some reasons for optimism, the true resilience of freshwater lakes in the Great Plains to salinization will depend on factors that were not directly tested in my experiments. Natural rates of dispersal among Great Plains lakes might vary dramatically depending on lake-specific factors (e.g. distance from neighbouring lakes, presence of dispersal vectors, accessibility) (Jenkins, 1995; Jenkins & Underwood, 1998; Cohen & Shurin, 2003) and may be much lower than the rate I used in my experiment. If natural dispersal rates are high enough to produce the effects found in my study, then the extent of buffering will likely depend on the real salinity differences among neighbouring lakes. Unfortunately, salinity values for lakes in southern Saskatchewan are not heterogeneous across the landscape, but are spatially autocorrelated, such that low salinity lakes are typically surrounded by others with low salinities (H. Haig, University of Regina, unpublished data). This would make it difficult for salinity-tolerant genotypes or species to access freshwater lakes that are experiencing salinization. However, there are some cases where saline lakes are found within proximity of freshwater lakes. For example, Shoe Lake (49.728N, 105.35W) is a hypersaline on the Great Plains surrounded by over a dozen smaller lakes and ponds in a 10 km<sup>2</sup> area that most likely have lower salinity levels (H. Haig, University of Regina, personal communication). Other factors that were not addressed in my experiments include temperature and alkalinity, which are both increasing in the region (Kaushal et al., 2018). Therefore, a full understanding of the future trajectory of zooplankton communities will have to consider interactions between salinity and these other stressors that have been found to be important in past studies on zooplankton communities. Finally, my study was focused on freshwater lakes that are experiencing increased salinity levels. I did not design my study to test the potential for dispersal to buffer zooplankton communities in lakes that are currently brackish and expected to experience future salinity

increases. Current distributional patterns of zooplankton suggest that there are hard limits on the upper thresholds at which most freshwater zooplankton species can survive (Wissel et al., 2011), making it unlikely that dispersal can prevent the eventual transition from a diverse freshwater zooplankton community to one that is dominated by a few salinity-tolerant species.

Based on my study, there are several lines of future inquiry that are promising. First, an important question that arises from my work is whether the effects of dispersal in my experiments were caused by source-sink population dynamics (Brown & Kodric-Brown., 1977) or the immigration of resistant clones (Weider & Hebert, 1987; Sinclair & Arnott, 2018). Longer-term experiments that involve the early introduction of dispersers followed by a long period without additional immigration would allow future studies to disentangle these two mechanisms, as source-sink dynamics rely on continuous immigration, while salinity-resistant clones should be able to persist for the entirety of the experiment. Other fruitful lines of inquiry include the quantification of dispersal rates among lakes for zooplankton on the Great Plains, the measurement of life history parameters for individual species in long-term salinity-tolerance experiments, and studies similar to mine with increased replication and higher power to detect the statistical interaction I expected to find between dispersal and salinity.

#### **3.2.** Contributions to the field

Metacommunity ecology is an approach that considers the significance of connections among communities and the role of these connections in maintaining biodiversity in the face of environmental changes such as climate-driven salinization (Heino, 2012). This study demonstrates the importance of dispersal as a regional factor in structuring zooplankton communities affected by salinity increases in the Great Plains. Although much theoretical and

some experimental work has been conducted on spatial insurance (Loreau et al., 2003; France & Duffy, 2006; Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009; Thompson & Shurin, 2012; Symons & Arnott, 2013), past research had not addressed if this mechanism would operate for zooplankton communities exposed to salinity changes in regions where salinity is highly variable in space and time. My study built on previous evidence of spatial insurance operating in response to other stressors (Strecker, 2007; Staddon et al. 2010; Symons & Arnott 2013) and tested if the same process could occur for zooplankton in Great Plains lakes exposed to rising salinities. The information from my study can be used to assess how communities might change in response to climate-driven salinization and will provide a launching point for future studies that tackle questions related to natural dispersal rates and the evolution of salinity tolerance in zooplankton from this region.

#### 3.2. How this research is integrative

Integrative biology is an interdisciplinary strategy in addressing complex scientific issues ranging from cellular studies to whole ecosystem research. This project focuses on ecological theory by nature but retains relevance to other subdisciplines in biology. The most relevant subject for my study is probably physiology, whereby the impacts of salinity on zooplankton communities begin with issues maintaining internal osmoregulatory balance. Toxicology is a branch of biology that could describe the chronic or acute effects of salinity on zooplankton at concentrations that exceed osmoregulatory capacities. One component of our study relied on toxicology to demonstrate the presence of varied salinity tolerances within zooplankton species to test if dispersal might be able to introduce tolerant clones to lakes experiencing salinization.

Lastly and most broadly, evolutionary studies were consulted and cited to provide background on the potential for zooplankton to adapt to increased salinities.

#### **3.3. Relevance to other research**

The scope of this research is related to an ongoing master's project by Mariam Elmarsafy titled, "Can Cladocera on the Great Plains of North America 'Keep Up' with Climate Change?" Her research will test if the salinity tolerance of *Daphnia* and *Ceriodaphnia* has evolved over time, and therefore will have implications for whether these species could persist in affected lakes. While my study focused on the ability of dispersal to mitigate change in salt-stressed zooplankton communities, her work is examining whether species already living in the lake can gradually adapt to changing salinities. Her findings will contribute to our knowledge about intraspecific variation in zooplankton salinity tolerance driven by local adaptation over time and could provide further evidence that variation in salinity tolerance can occur across the landscape. One of the assumptions of my work was that variation in salinity tolerance among lakes exists, so her work will be important for putting together the entire puzzle.

There is a widespread concern about how freshwater zooplankton will respond to increasing salinities as reflected in the ongoing study called the Global Salt Experiment. This project aims to investigate the impacts of road salt freshwater zooplankton ecosystems, involving twenty field enclosure experiments conducted in North America and Europe to test the long-term toxicity of sodium chloride. This study could provide comparable results regarding regional differences in zooplankton responses to salinity, as well as support my findings of reduced species richness and cladocerans as salinities increased. Both climate-driven salinity and road

salt runoff are contributors to the rapid salinization of freshwaters in North America (Covich et al., 1997; Dugan et al., 2017; Kaushal et al., 2018; Schallenberg et al., 2003; Williams, 1999), and as a result, should be considered important fields to study for the management and preservation of inland aquatic ecosystems

#### **3.4. References**

- Brown J.H. & Kodric-Brown A. (1977). Turnover rates in insular biogeography: Effect of immigration on extinction. *Ecology* **58**, 445–449. https://doi.org/10.2307/1935620
- Cohen G.M. & Shurin J.B. (2003). Scale-dependence and mechanisms of dispersal in freshwater zooplankton. *Oikos* **103**, 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12660.x
- Covich A.P., Fritz S.C., Lamb P.J., Marzolf R.D., Matthews W.J., Poiani K.A., *et al.* (1997). Potential effects of climate change on aquatic ecosystems of the Great Plains of North America. *Hydrological Processes* **11**, 993–1021. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(19970630)11:8<993::AID-HYP515>3.0.CO;2-N
- Dugan H.A., Bartlett S.L., Burke S.M., Doubek J.P., Krivak-Tetley F.E., Skaff N.K., et al.
  (2017). Salting our freshwater lakes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114, 4453–4458. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1620211114
- France K.E. & Duffy J.E. (2006). Diversity and dispersal interactively affect predictability of ecosystem function. *Nature* **441**, 1139–1143. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04729
- Gonzalez A. & Loreau M. (2009). The causes and consequences of compensatory dynamics in ecological communities. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 40, 393–414. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.39.110707.173349
- Heino J. (2012). The importance of metacommunity ecology for environmental assessment research in the freshwater realm. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2012.00244.x
- Jenkins D.G. (1995). Dispersal-limited zooplankton distribution and community composition in new ponds. *Hydrobiologia* **313/314**, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00025926

- Jenkins D.G. & Underwood M.O. (1998). Zooplankton may not disperse readily in wind, rain or waterfowl. *Hydrobiologia* **388**, 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- Kaushal S.S., Likens G.E., Pace M.L., Utz R.M., Haq S., Gorman J., et al. (2018). Freshwater salinization syndrome on a continental scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115, E574–E583. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711234115
- Loreau M., Mouquet N. & Gonzalez A. (2003). Biodiversity as spatial insurance in heterogeneous landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 12765– 12770. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2235465100
- Schallenberg M., Hall C.J. & Burns C.W. (2003). Consequences of climate-induced salinity increases on zooplankton abundance and diversity in coastal lakes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 251, 181–189. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps251181
- Sinclair J.S. & Arnott S.E. (2018). Local context and connectivity determine the response of zooplankton communities to salt contamination. *Freshwater Biology* 62, 1273–1286. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.13132
- Staddon P., Lindo Z., Crittenden P.D., Gilbert F. & Gonzalez A. (2010). Connectivity, nonrandom extinction and ecosystem function in experimental metacommunities. *Ecology Letters* 13, 543–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01450.x
- Strecker A.L. (2007). Responses of zooplankton community structure and ecosystem function to the invasion of an invertebrate predator, Bythotrephes longimanus. Queen's University.
- Symons C.C. & Arnott S.E. (2013). Regional zooplankton dispersal provides spatial insurance for ecosystem function. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 1610–1619.

https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12122

- Thompson P.L. & Shurin J.B. (2012). Regional zooplankton biodiversity provides limited buffering of pond ecosystems against climate change. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 251– 259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01908.x
- Weider L.J. & Hebert P.D.N. (1987). Ecological and physiological differentiation among low-Arctic clones of Daphnia pulex. *Ecology* **68**, 188–198. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938819
- Williams W.D. (1999). Salinisation: A major threat to water resources in the arid and semi-arid regions of the world. *Lakes and Reservoirs: Research and Management* 4, 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1770.1999.00089.x
- Wissel B., Cooper R.N., Leavitt P.R. & Pham S. V. (2011). Hierarchical regulation of pelagic invertebrates in lakes of the northern Great Plains: A novel model for interdecadal effects of future climate change on lakes. *Global Change Biology* 17, 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02291.x